
Date Published:10 May 2022     

Gloucestershire Economic Growth Joint Committee

Thursday 19 May 2022 at 10.00 am

Cabinet Suite - Shire Hall, Gloucester

AGENDA

1  APOLOGIES 

To note any apologies for absence.

Laura Powick

2  ELECTION OF CHAIR 

To elect a Chair for the Civic Year 2022/23.

Laura Powick

3  ELECTION OF VICE-CHAIR 

To elect a Vice-Chair for the Civic Year 2022/23.

Laura Powick

4  MINUTES (Pages 1 - 14)

To approve the minutes of the meeting held on 16 March 2022.

Chair

5  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

To receive any pecuniary or personal interests by members.

Chair

DECISION REPORTS

6  BUSINESS RATE POOL 

To receive a verbal update on the Business Rate Pool. 

Andrew 
Cummings

7  SEDF BID - LOW CARBON AND SKILLS TRAINING CENTRE (Pages 
15 - 24)

To consider the funding request. 

Brendan Cleere



    

8  SEDF BID - CENTRAL GLOUCESTERSHIRE MASS TRANSIT SCHEME 
(Pages 25 - 32)

To consider the funding request. 

Simon Excell

9  SEDF BID - THE ROYAL AGRICULTURAL UNIVERSITY'S 
'INNOVATION VILLAGE' PROJECT (Pages 33 - 46)

To consider the funding request. 

Rob Weaver

INFORMATION REPORTS

10  GLOUCESTERSHIRE ECONOMIC GROWTH SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
UPDATE 

To receive an update on the work of the Gloucestershire Economic 
Growth Scrutiny Committee. 

Cllr Matt 
Babbage

11  UK SHARED PROSPERITY FUND (Pages 47 - 50)

To consider an information report on the UK Shared Prosperity Fund, 
including opportunities for Gloucestershire. 

Lisa McCance

12  TRANSPORT DECARBONISATION (Pages 51 - 74)

To receive a presentation on transport decarbonisation. 

Luisa Senft-
Hayward

13  GCC ECONOMIC DASHBOARD (Pages 75 - 90)

To receive an update on Gloucestershire County Council (GCC)’s 
Economic Dashboard. 

Katherine Martin

14  GFIRST LEP UPDATE (Pages 91 - 104)

To receive an update on the work of the GFirst LEP. 

Dev 
Chakraborty

WORK PLAN

15  FORWARD (WORK) PLAN (Pages 105 - 108)

To note the Committee work plan and consider items for discussion at 
future meetings, including emerging SEDF proposals.

Please refer to the items listed under ‘Future Items’ which have previously 
been suggested for potential consideration by the Committee. 

Chair

16  FUTURE MEETINGS 

To note the dates of meetings for the remainder of 2022 (all meetings to 
start at 10am):

7 September 2022

Chair



    

16 November 2022.   

Membership –  Cllr Philip Robinson Cllr Rowena Hay, Cllr Rob Bird, Cllr Richard Cook, Cllr Doina 
Cornell, Cllr Tony Dale and Cllr Bernie O'Neill
Dev Chakraborty

(a) DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST – Members requiring advice or clarification about 
whether to make a declaration of interest are invited to contact the Director of Policy, 
Performance and Governance, Rob Ayliffe 01452 328198 /fax: 425149/ e-mail: 
rob.ayliffe@gloucestershire.gov.uk) prior to the start of the meeting.

(b) INSPECTION OF PAPERS AND GENERAL QUERIES - If you wish to inspect minutes or 
reports relating to any item on this agenda or have any other general queries about the 
meeting, please contact: Laura Powick, Democratic Services Adviser 
:01452 324205/fax: 425850/e-mail: laura.powick@gloucestershire.gov.uk

(c) GENERAL ARRANGEMENTS

Please note that photography, filming and audio recording of Council meetings is 
permitted subject to the Local Government Access to Information provisions.  Please 
contact Democratic Services (tel 01452 425230) to make the necessary arrangements 
ahead of the meeting.  If you are a member of the public and do not wish to be 
photographed or filmed please inform the Democratic Services Officer on duty at the 
meeting.

EVACUATION PROCEDURE - in the event of the fire alarms sounding during the meeting please leave as 
directed in a calm and orderly manner and go to the assembly point which is outside the main entrance to 
Shire Hall in Westgate Street.  Please remain there and await further instructions.

mailto:rob.ayliffe@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:laura.powick@gloucestershire.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



- 1 -

GLOUCESTERSHIRE ECONOMIC GROWTH JOINT 
COMMITTEE

MINUTES of the meeting of the Gloucestershire Economic Growth Joint Committee 
held on Wednesday 16 March 2022 commencing at 10.00 am at the Cabinet Suite - 
Shire Hall, Gloucester.

PRESENT
MEMBERSHIP:

Cllr Rowena Hay
Cllr Rob Bird
Cllr Richard Cook
Cllr Doina Cornell

Cllr Tony Dale (Chair)
Dev Chakraborty
Cllr Philip Robinson (Vice-Chair)

Substitutes:

Apologies:

In Attendance: 

Cllr Bernie O'Neill

Mike Dawson (TBC) Jon McGinty (Glos City)
Steve Mawson (GCC) Peter Williams (FODDC)
Simon Excell (GCC)            Pete Carr (GFirst LEP)
Angela Presdee (GCC) Paul James (CDC)
Gillian Parkinson (GCC) Andrew Cummings (SDC)
Katherine Martin (GCC) Kathy O’Leary (SDC)
Laura Powick (GCC)   Lisa McCance (Shared Intel.)
Tim Atkins (CBC)

330. APOLOGIES 

Apologies were received from Cllr Bernie O’Neill. 

331. MINUTES 

The minutes of the meeting held on 26 January 2022 were agreed as a correct 
record. 

Gillian Parkinson, Assistant Director of Legal Services, Gloucestershire County 
Council (GCC), provided the Committee with an update on the Inter Authority 
Agreement (IAA), which had been extended until 1 April 2023. 

Members were advised that all district councils had formally agreed to this 
extension through their governance procedures, except Gloucester City Council. 
Gloucester City Council would be formally agreeing to the IAA’s extension at its full 
Council meeting which would be taking place next week. In the meantime, 
Gloucester City Council had indicated its commitment to the continuation of the 
GEGJC in a letter. Having considered the options, officers felt that on balance the 

Page 1

Agenda Item 4



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 2 -

decisions due to be considered at today’s meeting on the SEDF bids could continue 
to be taken, given Gloucester City Council’s written commitment. 

It was noted that all legal formalities would hopefully be confirmed at the next 
GEGJC meeting in May. 

332. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

No declarations of interest were made at the meeting. 

333. BROADBAND IN GLOUCESTERSHIRE 

Simon Excell, Assistant Director of Planning and Economic Development, 
presented the report on progress with the Fastershire Strategy in Gloucestershire.

It was recognised that since the pandemic, demand for high quality digital 
infrastructure had grown as a result of the increase in home working. GCC was 
currently working alongside Herefordshire Council with support from Building Digital 
UK (BDUK), which managed the delivery of broadband networks nationally, on the 
Fastershire Broadband Strategy 2019-22, which aimed to increase superfast 
broadband coverage across the two counties through a mixture of contracts and 
grants.

Members were informed that premises with access to superfast broadband in 
Gloucestershire had increased from 45% in 2012 to 96.5% in 2022.  However it was 
understood that the remaining 3.5% of premises were the most difficult to connect, 
reflecting the rural nature of the County, and the high costs associated with this 
were not commercially viable even with Government investment. Therefore different 
solutions for these properties were being considered. 

Members were advised that a dispute between BDUK and Fastershire was resolved 
in August 2021, which led to some of the remaining properties either being included 
as part of the commercial delivery programme or being transferred to BDUK’s 
Project Gigabit. However the dispute had caused some delays to the programme. 

The Committee was informed that in 2019, a new stage of the project was 
launched, whereby communities not covered by existing roll out plans could 
collectively approach suppliers using a Dynamic Purchasing System. 11 broadband 
contracts had so far been secured through this process, and a further 4 were being 
progressed. 

It was determined, in conclusion, that the project had been successful overall; 
however some challenges remained as the project aimed to reach 100% superfast 
broadband connectivity in Gloucestershire.

It was commented that in terms of digital inclusion, connectivity was only part of the 
issue, alongside digital skills and affordability. It was also queried whether there 

Page 2



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 3 -

was a role for a successor to Fastershire and how this would relate to the national 
infrastructure strategy.

In response, assurance was provided that the national picture was being monitored, 
and members were informed that the Fastershire partnership was currently being 
reviewed, alongside the annual review of the strategy.

It was also commented that Cotswold District Council had set aside money for 
broadband in the district, and a recent report to its Cabinet recommended that 
officers work alongside Fastershire on a top-up scheme to assist with the delivery of 
broadband in the district that otherwise would not be viable. 

The Cabinet Member for Economy, Education and Skills, GCC, explained that the 
Government had raised its aspirations to deliver improved infrastructure networks 
capable of supporting far greater digital download speeds, however in 
Gloucestershire the dissatisfaction was where pockets of premises with very low 
broadband speed remained. 

One member suggested that the Committee consider how it could support 
aspirations for Gigabit broadband connectivity in Gloucestershire, as well other 
aspects including supporting the elderly to access the internet, and providing good 
Wi-Fi connections in town centres. 

334. CYBER PROJECT 

Tim Atkins, Managing Director for Place and Growth, Cheltenham Borough Council, 
provided the Committee with a presentation on progress with the Cyber Project in 
Cheltenham.

It was noted that the profile of the project had been successfully raised through a 
media campaign; after appointing a developer, it was hoped the innovation centre 
would be ready on site in 2025; Cheltenham had been mentioned in the national 
cyber strategy by Government; the project was showcased as part of digital 
acceleration at the Western Gateway conference; officers were working alongside 
the LEP on an inward investment proposition;  there would be an opportunity to 
pitch the project to the Prime Minister at a meeting in May; and two ministerial visits 
had taken place (involving Michael Gove and Julia Lopez) in relation to the project. 

Members were also reminded that it was not only the Cyber project in Cheltenham 
promoting cyber innovation in Gloucestershire, with other sites, such as Berkeley 
Green, playing an important role, and consideration was being given as to how to 
attract businesses to the County.

Page 3



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 4 -

Consideration was also being given as to how to develop the talent base for the 
project by working with schools, as well as the project’s role in levelling up 
ambitions for the County. 

Members took the opportunity to congratulate Tim and his team on progress with 
this project. 

335. STATEMENT OF COMMON GROUND 

Mike Dawson, Chair of the GEGJC Senior Officer Group (SOG), provided a verbal 
update on the Statement for Common Ground.

It was understood that work on the statement had not progressed since the last 
update to the Committee. It was also understood that Cheltenham Borough Council, 
which had been leading on this work, no longer had the capacity to do so and 
therefore consideration needed to be given as to how to take the next phase 
forward.

336. GCC ECONOMIC DASHBOARD 

Katherine Martin, Data and Analysis Manager, GCC, provided the Committee with 
an update on GCC’s Economic Dashboard, the contents of which had been 
reviewed since the last meeting. The Dashboard was attached to the agenda 
papers for this meeting. 

There was a query as to whether the data reflected the effect of the self-employed 
moving into paid employment during the pandemic. In response, it was 
acknowledged that the data on self-employment was not particularly robust; 
however this was an area that could be looked into. 

337. GFIRST LEP UPDATE 

Dev Chakraborty, Deputy Chief Executive of GFirst LEP, presented the Committee 
with an update on the work of the GFirst LEP.

In particular, it was noted that the Government had now published its Levelling Up 
white paper, which set out the Government’s aims to make people happier and live 
longer. The paper also provided the first details of the UK Shared Prosperity Fund, 
which would replace the old European funds that had supported projects in the 
County.  LEPs, however, were still waiting to hear from Government as to their 
function and form moving forward. 

Members were informed that one-to-one meetings between all Gloucestershire 
Local Authorities and Ruth Dooley, new Chair of GFirst LEP, David Owen, Chief 
Executive of GFirst LEP, and Dev Chakraborty, would be taking place after Easter, 
during which discussions would be held on the UK Shared Prosperity Fund.

Page 4



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 5 -

In an update on the Inward Investment project, members were advised that the 
number of enquiries from potential investors in the County had increased 
significantly.  

It was commented that funding allocations from the UK Shared Prosperity Fund 
would increase over three years, with the Government confirming that allocations 
for skills would only be made during the third year, which was of concern both 
nationally and locally for the Growth Hubs. Consideration would therefore need to 
be given as to how these could be funded before then. 

338. BUSINESS RATE POOL 

Andrew Cummings, Strategic Director of Resources, Stroud District Council, 
provided the Committee with an update on the Gloucestershire Business Rate Pool.

Members were advised that the expected pool gain for 2021/22 was £4.17million, 
which would lead to an allocation of £833k to the SEDF. It was noted that there was 
currently £259k of unallocated money remaining in the SEDF, which did not include 
the expected gain to the SEDF from 2021/22 and 2022/23. 

It was noted that the final settlement for local government for 2022/23 had 
confirmed that pooling would continue, and business rates growth would not 
currently be reset. However, a consultation was expected in the spring as part of 
the Government’s review of local government finance. 

The Committee considered two SEDF funding requests. 

The first SEDF bid was presented by Dev Chakraborty for £150k to launch the 
‘Made in Gloucestershire’ Initiative. 

One member requested that evidence be shared relating to the success of other 
areas that had launched similar projects. In response, it was explained that 
feedback on proposals for the initiative in Gloucestershire from local businesses 
had been positive, and data could be shared with members from the ‘Produced in 
Northumberland’ initiative. 

Another member queried whether the initiative could be launched to coincide with 
the Tour of Britain, which would be travelling through the County. In response, it 
was explained that there was a two-pronged campaign for the project, with the 
recruitment of investors commencing after Easter, and a big launch in September, 
which could potentially coincide with the men’s race in Gloucestershire. 

Page 5



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 6 -

There was a further query as to whether the initiative would be duplicating the work 
of other schemes such as Cotswold Taste. In response, it was asserted that there 
wouldn’t be any duplication; however the initiative would engage with the Cotswold 
Taste brand on how they could work alongside each other. 

Clarification was sought on the membership model for the scheme and how small 
local producers could be supported to sell to bigger chains. It was understood, in 
response, that part of the scheme would include working with producers such as by 
providing dedicated events through the Growth Hub. 

One member queried whether the working group for the initiative was too top-
heavy, and whether any consultation with small businesses had been carried out. In 
response, it was explained that it was considered important to have a group of 
‘heavy-weights’ as part of the working group as they were the ones with the 
experience. It was also understood that the LEP had presented the initiative to its 
retail and high street group, as well as its agritech group, and the feedback had 
been positive and encouraging. 

There was a comment as to how affordable membership would be for small 
businesses, and in response the Committee was advised that membership fees 
could be based on the number of employees or turnover.

There was also a question as to how quickly the initiative would look to involve 
other products in addition to food and drink. Members noted in response that it was 
important initially to focus on the launch of food and drink, with consultation on any 
expansion happening in the second year of the initiative on the back of feedback 
from businesses involved in the scheme. 

On being put to a vote it was 

RESOLVED to
 
Approve funding of £150,000 to launch, promote and project manage the ‘Made in 
Gloucestershire’ Initiative for 2 years.

The second SEDF bid was presented by Simon Excell for £850k of development 
funding for the Central Gloucestershire Mass Transit Scheme.

There were a number of comments in support of the principle of the scheme 
however concerns were raised about the amount of money being requested from 
the SEDF. 

Officers advised that the Committee could agree the decision despite the amount of 
funding requested being in excess of the money currently in the SEDF. Funding 
could be agreed by splitting it across a two year period, which would need to be 

Page 6



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 7 -

underwritten, or by allocating from the City Region Board fund. Members were 
advised that should they wish to approve this decision it would not be ultra vires. 

There was a comment from a member that the scheme would not benefit those on 
the peripheries of the County, such as in the Forest of Dean. 

Another member praised the scheme as being ambitious and would provide 
efficient public transport for the future that would benefit everyone in the County, 
despite its central location. They appreciated the situation relating to the funding, 
however argued that there were options around this. 

A further member spoke of the scheme in the context of the National Bus Strategy, 
stating that the Mass Transit Scheme was an important component of 
Gloucestershire’s Bus Service Improvement Plan, which was submitted to the 
Government in October 2021. They expressed the view that the scheme would 
have an important part to play in helping to achieve the modal shift from private car 
use to public transport, and therefore would have a beneficial effect in reducing 
carbon emissions. 

Several members reaffirmed their concerns about the amount of funding that was 
being requested from the SEDF. They queried whether the SEDF should be used to 
fund highways schemes and what the purpose of the Committee would be if there 
was no money left in the SEDF to allocate for future bids. They also commented 
that they had not received an update on progress with the Multi-Modal Model Study 
which had previously been funded by the SEDF. 

It was commented that the Committee needed to consider its priorities when 
considering this decision, as by agreeing to fund this bid, the Committee would then 
be unable to consider funding for other projects. 

One member felt that they had not had enough time to fully consider the information 
and discuss the options relating to this bid. They suggested that the pandemic had 
resulted in people working from home and travelling less and that this should be 
encouraged, rather than ‘putting all of our eggs into one basket’ with this central 
infrastructure project. They also commented on the current lack of funding for basic 
bus services and the impact this was having, and expressed the view that there 
was a lack of strategic oversight. 

Another member suggested that the focus should be on smaller projects which 
would boost the economy now as the County continued to recover from the 
pandemic.

One member queried the concerns that had been raised by other members, 
expressing the view that the bid marked  the starting point for improving public 
transport for the future. 

Simon Excell summed up the bid and asserted that it wasn’t unreasonable, having 
considered the advice from officers relating to how the bid could be funded, for the 

Page 7



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 8 -

Committee to commit to funding to this vitally important project which would benefit 
all in the County.

The Chair summed up the discussion before the Committee voted on the bid.

On being put to the vote, the bid was refused.  

339. FORWARD (WORK) PLAN 

The Committee noted the work plan for upcoming meetings. 

340. FUTURE MEETINGS 

The Committee noted the meeting dates for the remainder of 2022. 

CHAIRPERSON

Meeting concluded at 12.45 pm

Page 8



Gloucestershire Economic Growth Joint Committee actions – 16 March 2022

Topic Action Responsibility Progress

1 Business Rate Pool RESOLVED to

Approve funding of £150,000 to launch, promote 
and project manage the ‘Made in Gloucestershire’ 
Initiative for 2 years.

Dev 
Chakraborty/ 
Mike Dawson 

Completed. 

2 Business Rate Pool To share statistics with the Committee received 
from the ‘Produced in Northumberland’ initiative. 

Dev 
Chakraborty 

The statistics are taken from 
the STEAM 
(Scarborough Tourism 

Economic Activity Monitor) 
which are used by 
Destination Management 
Organisations. 

STEAM model | Tourism 
Research | UK | Global 
Tourism Solutions (UK) Ltd

This is the link to the 
Northumberland STEAM 
reports:  Research & Insights 
- Northumberland Tourism

Tourism Economic Impact 
Food & Drink in 
Northumberland 

2015   £244.01 million

P
age 9

https://www.globaltourismsolutions.co.uk/steam-model/
https://www.globaltourismsolutions.co.uk/steam-model/
https://www.globaltourismsolutions.co.uk/steam-model/
https://www.northumberlandtourism.org.uk/research-insights?start=4
https://www.northumberlandtourism.org.uk/research-insights?start=4


Produced in 
Northumberland launches in 
Feb 2016

2016   £255.50 million    

2017   £279.33 million

2018   £301.89 million

2019   £315.19 million

2020   £142.91 
million (decrease due to 
pandemic)

You can see significant 
increases in 2017, 2018, and 
2019 in the Food & Drink 
Tourism Economy following 
the launch of Produced in 
Northumberland

3 Business Rate Pool To engage with the Cotswold Taste brand on 
working alongside the ‘Made in Gloucestershire’ 
initiative. 

Dev 
Chakraborty

The founder, Chair and 
driving force of Cotswold 
Taste, Nick Waloff sadly died 
from Covid in 2021. 

There is a new team of 
volunteers now in place and I 
have reached out requesting 
to meet to see how we could 
potentially work together to 
mutual benefit.

4 Business Rate Pool To share the results of the Multi-Modal Model Simon Excell Please see Appendix 1. 

P
age 10



study with the Committee. 

P
age 11



Appendix 1

Multi-Modal Model Study

In June 2020, the Gloucestershire Economic Growth Joint Committee (GEGJC) considered and approved a recommendation from 
the GEGJC Senior Officer Group for the allocation of £410,000 from the approved Strategic Economic Development Fund (SEDF) ring fenced 
funding allocated to the Central Gloucestershire City Regional Board to support the commissioning of a Multi-Modal Brief and Terms of 
Reference. The remaining more than £100k funding required for the project was provided by GCC.

As outlined in the SEDF paper, the project was to be delivered in three phases, with the overall purpose of the whole project is to create a Multi-
Modal transport model (the Gloucestershire Countywide Model 3,GC3M) that enables Gloucestershire to understand the future travel demand 
from growth in Gloucestershire, direct growth towards locations with high levels of sustainable transport accessibility and provide a reliable tool to 
create a WebTAG compliant Full Business Case for a Mass Rapid Transit System in Gloucestershire. 

The objective of phases one and two was to gather the necessary data and evidence to feed into the creation of the Multi-Modal Model at phase 
three, with phase two also producing a spreadsheet model, allowing high level assessments of sustainable travel patterns and demand, including 
that resulting from possible new development allocations or an early options assessment of the Mass Rapid Transit system. 

The first two phases of the project were completed in Summer/late 2020 and the resulting spread sheet model is available for use by 
Gloucestershire authorities and has been used by GCC for early investigations into the Mass Rapid Transit project and Gloucestershire’s 
transport decarbonisation work. 

The modelling approach of the core transport model (GC3M) incorporates three main elements as follows: 
 A highway assignment model in SATURN software; 
 A public transport assignment model in PTV Visum software; and
 A variable demand model in PTV Visum software. 

As 2020, and possibly the first part of 2021, cannot considered representative years due to Covid, it was decided that the model base year 
should be 2019, in line with decisions taken by other authorities and National Highways. A key data source was count data collected by National 
Highways for the refresh of their Regional Transport Model. 

P
age 12



Delays with National Highways releasing this data resulted in a delay in the completion of the Multi Modal Model. However, we are now entering 
the final phases of the GC3M base model development. The model networks (both highway and public transport) were completed in 2021, 
together with the public transport demand matrices. The project team are now working on refining the highway matrix trip patterns and carrying 
out initial runs of the full integrated model process.  Calibration and validation of the base model is set to take place in May and June 2022 with 
the final reporting expected late June/early July.

This means that the Multi Modal Model should be available in time for any modelling for the Joint Strategic Plan, or other emerging Local Plan 
work, and to support business cases for major projects such as the Mass Rapid Transit scheme, subject to funding.

P
age 13



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Gloucestershire Economic Growth Joint Committee: 
Strategic Economic Development Fund (SEDF)

May 2021

 
     Expression of Interest (EOI) / BID

Gloucestershire Economic Growth: Strategic Economic Development Fund (SEDF): 

This fund is for the benefit of the whole of Gloucestershire, and utilising funds from the 
current Gloucestershire Local Authority Business Rates Pool. It facilitates collective work on 
the economic development agenda and reflects the commitment of the Pool participants to 
drive economic investment which also links to the planning and infrastructure process. 
Eligibility criteria for the fund has been established and agreed by all participants, against 
which bids for funding are assessed. 

Access to the Fund is for the principal stakeholders only – the Local Authorities and Local 
Economic Partnership, and any project or funding request will need to have a clearly identified 
sponsoring lead organisation/contact. Expression of Interest submissions should be 
completed and submitted for consideration by the Gloucestershire Economic Growth Joint 
Committee Senior Officer Support Group, at a relevant meeting. They will assess its potential 
against the criteria and whether a good strategic fit. This mirrors the same approach adopted 
for the consideration of new projects for the Gloucestershire Capital Investment Pipeline 
(CIP).

Project Name (Be specific not general, to avoid confusion with other similar projects or locations)

Berkeley Low Carbon Training Centre 

Investment theme: Tick the primary theme that best fits your project. If applicable, also tick a sub 
theme. If ‘other’ state and explain.)
Primary Investment theme:
Business Environment
Infrastructure 
Place Shaping
Skills and Employment 

Sub investment theme:
Education
Employment 
Energy 

Promoter Details

Promoter Organisation South Gloucestershire and Stroud (SGS) College 
(Sponsor Local Authority: Stroud District Council)

Promoter Address Stratford Road, Stroud, GL5 4AH
Primary Contact (name & job 
title)

Patrick Mcleod – Assistant Principal, Projects 

Page 15

Agenda Item 7



Gloucestershire Economic Growth Joint Committee: 
Strategic Economic Development Fund (SEDF)

May 2021

Email Address Patrick.mcleod@sgscol.ac.uk 
Contact Telephone Number 01453 763424
Project Summary (Max 250 words) (Describe your project idea clearly and succinctly, including what 
the investment would buy, and why it would lead to economic growth for Gloucestershire. Include 
the potential timeframe, and any significant drivers or constraints related to the scheduling of the 
investment.
Include details of the organisation(s) that would be involved in its delivery, and why public funds are 
needed).
SGS College are applying to the Strategic Economic Development Fund, with Stroud District Council as 
the sponsor, for a total sum of £450,000 - £300,000 capital/£150,000 revenue. 

Berkeley Low Carbon Training Centre is the creation and development of a renewable energy and 
retrofit training centre at the Gloucestershire Science and Technology Park, Berkeley, Gloucestershire. 
Utilising redundant existing building space, the investment would convert and equip state of the art 
training rooms, classrooms and office space dedicated to low-carbon skills delivery and assessment. 
Currently there are few such centres in the UK, mainly operated by private training providers, and 
therefore a lack of supply to meet the anticipated huge demand.  Also unique to Berkeley will be the 
linkage to the existing low-carbon knowledge cluster already on site, particularly the £36m 
Government Catapult project ‘Active Building Centre’, ensuring industry experience and knowledge is 
at the forefront of learning. Uniquely, the Berkeley centre will be supported by South Gloucestershire 
and Stroud College, one of the largest and most successful regional FE Colleges. The longer-term 
ambition is for this model to then be replicated across Gloucestershire, growing a countywide network 
of green skills centres. 

SEDF investment would allow for the essential capital works to take place, including the installation of 
the above facilities. The investment also includes some staffing resource, dedicated to this project to 
initiate, develop and establish the centre as the go-to green skills training centre for the south west. 
Having this in the heart of Gloucestershire, along with initiatives such as the Accxel Centre, Hartpury’s 
Agri Tech Centre and related course offerings at FE and HE level across the county, will provide options, 
progression routes and complimentary courses. This breadth of provision is needed to enable the 
county to reskill and upskill ahead of demand and to be at the forefront as a national crisis problem 
solver.

The centre will also support the curriculum of the University Technical College already on site.  Both 
the UTC and SGS College will support low-carbon employers with the progression of graduates into 
jobs and apprenticeships. There are no constraints on timeframe, as the infrastructure and buildings 
are readily available for conversion.  

     

Summary of benefits/outcomes that will be delivered (Max 250 words) (Expanding on your 
summary, provide information on the tangible benefits or outcomes that would be delivered, leading 

Page 16

mailto:Patrick.mcleod@sgscol.ac.uk


Gloucestershire Economic Growth Joint Committee: 
Strategic Economic Development Fund (SEDF)

May 2021

to the growth of the Gloucestershire economy. These could address challenges or capitalise on 
opportunities, including those associated with improving productivity.
List the expected benefits, estimated quantities and indicate the timescales).

The key outcome will be to deliver training capacity for the essential skills and knowledge to meet the 
Gloucestershire carbon reduction targets (80% by 2030) and to also play a significant role in the 
regional and national solutions to the climate crisis. In it first year, we aim up train 750 installers, 200 
design professionals, and we will work with employers to offer the low carbon/environmental 
technologies pathway as a Plumbing Apprenticeship pathway. SGS College has existing, established 
links with employers through the apprenticeships already offered through the work our Employer 
Engagement department does within the community.  We have also engaged with 30 installer 
businesses as part of our consultation and development of plans on their training wants, needs, and 
accessibility. 

We envisage the Berkeley Low Carbon Training Centre having a pathfinder role; developing, piloting 
and leading on cutting-edge low carbon, renewable energy and retrofit straining courses.  Working 
closely with the Active Building Centre at the forefront of decarbonising the built environment, the 
centre will develop content and delivery models that can be replicated regionally and nationally, 
strengthening the role of Gloucestershire in being positioned strongly to achieve the UK Net Zero 
ambition. We plan to work closely with other Gloucestershire initiatives, that are existing and in 
development, to form a cohesive stakeholder working group. Working with employers will be key to 
ensure we are delivering courses of value and impact, gaining industry input to develop our content 
and future proof.  

The centre at Berkeley is regionally very accessible for short-course training; Exeter, Birmingham, 
Reading and Cardiff are all within 90 minutes by road. There is also a main train line at Cam and 
Dursley, from which we would explore the possibility of a shuttle bus to and from the GSTP to minimise 
individual travel. We would also encourage and work with employers to coordinate group travel. 

The project adds value to the public funds already invested into the GSTP, including the UTC and the 
UK Government funded Active Building Centre. The low carbon centre would further reinforce the low 
carbon cluster at Berkeley and support the Western Gateway Region's bid for the STEP Fusion project, 
again strengthening Gloucestershire’s reputation as the leading county for tackling climate change. 

Strategic Fit (Max 150 words) (Give the local, regional or national context for your project. Explain 
how it clearly aligns to the Strategic Economic Plan v2 
https://www.gfirstlep.com/downloads/2018/sep-2-update2018v3.pdf
and complements the local District strategies and delivery plans
Berkeley Low Carbon Training Centre aligns with and supports local and national strategies, further 
supporting Gloucestershire to become a national frontrunner of impactful action taking place.  
Nationally, the centre would support the UK’s ambition of Net Zero by 20501. There is appetite for 
more local generation/on site renewables in face of security of supply and cost challenges in fossil fuel 
sectors. Both the 6th Carbon Budget report2, and the Catapult Energy Systems report3, highlight the 

Page 17

https://www.gfirstlep.com/downloads/2018/sep-2-update2018v3.pdf


Gloucestershire Economic Growth Joint Committee: 
Strategic Economic Development Fund (SEDF)

May 2021

necessity for Government to support the development of training and skills required for the change. 
Jobs in the Green sector are expected to rise 64% from 6,901 jobs in 2030 to 11,335 jobs in 2050.
Regionally, the Western Gateway latest report4 concludes an opportunity to be central on the ‘design 
and integration of the next generation green power systems, becoming the ideas factory of the UK’, 
and to prioritise ‘Championing skills: Convening to address the core skills gaps afflicting the sectors of 
strength and supporting the development of adequate talent pipelines to provide opportunities across 
the Western Gateway.’
Countywide, in terms of strategic relevance, working with educational providers to address the skills 
and develop green sector specialist courses is supported by the Gloucestershire Skills Strategy 20228, 
and the Gloucestershire Local Industrial Strategy 20199. Whilst current delivery evidences the 
commitment at local levels to fund and secure demand that meets the retrofit challenge of our existing 
built environment, district level public sector projects are working to raise demand by showcasing 
retrofit solutions and raise awareness and opportunity for others to get involved. More than £14.4m 
of capital funds has been secured for countywide retrofit works on social and private housing and the 
development pipeline continues to grow. A further £13m was raised in the first round alone of Public 
Sector Decarbonisation funds and more has since been raised in the subsequent rounds and will 
deliver capital works on a variety of public estates. In addition, current activity between Stroud and 
Cotswold District councils and Local Partnerships is conducting an in-depth ‘health check’ on our ability 
to support retrofit and seeking evidence on how current and planned capacity is rising to the challenge 
with a view to identifying gaps and progression areas to take forward.
Locally, the project supports Stroud’s existing Local Plan5 and review6 (submitted to Government for 
formal review), where projects associated with low carbon/renewable energy generation are 
supported. Working with educational providers to address the skills and develop green sector 
specialist courses is a proposed commitment as stated in the draft Stroud District Economic 
Development Strategy7.  The project sponsors, Stroud District Council, have already shown a 
commitment to sustainability, retrofitting Council offices at Ebley Mill and Brimscombe Port by 
installing Water Source Heat Pumps.   

Evidence of need or demand (Max 150 words) (give details of the evidence you can reference that 
supports your case that there is a need or demand for this project)
Having researched numerous low-carbon sector employers at different networking/showcase events 
including COP26, 96% said they would be interested in either environmental awareness courses 
and/or retrofit/renewable energy courses. Gloucestershire is projected to have 12,584 low carbon 
jobs by 2030 and is expected to rise by 61% to 20,263 low carbon jobs by 205010.
Within existing low carbon schemes, such as heat pump installations in social housing schemes, we 
are seeing errors at every stage in the process; specification, design and installation, leading to poor 
quality schemes and reputational damage. This only leads to corrections needing to be made soon 
after, costing the customer financially and having a detrimental impact on progress. A prime example 
of this being the Green Homes Grant Scheme, where a lack of skilled trades people resulted in only 

Page 18



Gloucestershire Economic Growth Joint Committee: 
Strategic Economic Development Fund (SEDF)

May 2021

672 retrofit measure being installed across the county despite a target of 5028; this is a tangible 
demonstration of how having the correct workforce impacts the success of the deliverables. 
As the UK government develop policy for the adoption of low carbon technologies, there will be a 
drive to decarbonise the pubic estate and a desperate need for high quality, effective training.  Low-
carbon workforce predictions are set out in the government-commissioned Skills for Net Zero report. 
This is further supported but the Catapult report, which outlines the skills shortages holding back 
home decarbonisation. 

Summary of the project costs and any sources of funding: (Estimated total capital cost of the 
project, and (if available) list the main elements of the budget. Provide details of any potential or 
secured source(s) of funding and the likely shortfall.)
Berkeley is in the fortunate position of having land, buildings, and associated infrastructure already 
operational. This project would initially look at redeveloping 5 rooms within the John Hugget building, 
to accommodate:
- 2 Training rooms with training rigs installed, 60-70% of total budget
- 2 Classrooms, 20-30% of total budget
- 1 Office, up to 20% of total budget
We aim for the training rooms to be as adaptable and flexible as possible, to host several training 
courses, so we are not restricted in future growth. The costs and items listed above are at this time 
estimates only, with a large part of the project being the obtaining and comparisons of quotes to 
ensure value for money and longevity of the project. 
We estimate the capital investment for the installation of training rigs and redevelopment of room 
works to be approximately £300,000. 

Summary of the Revenue Investment(s) required (Explain how the project would be deliverable and 
sustainable by explaining the sources of revenue funding to support the likely cost needed to deliver 
the project following the capital investment)
We will need a Project Manager to not only take on the redevelopment of the training centre itself 
including capital works, but also the initial set up, recruitment, and marketing of the Training Centre 
and the opportunities presented there. We will need some additional staffing resource for at least the 
first 2 years, to write, develop, deliver and assess the courses we wish to deliver. Once established, 
the centre will be self-sustainable, securing revenue primarily through full-cost short course training. 
Delivery of apprenticeships and adult-skills funded courses will also contribute. 
For 2 years of staffing resource, including on costs, we estimate up to £150,000. 
Match Funding from SGS College
External funding is needed for the project as SGS College simply do not have the revenue needed. 
However, we can provide in kind match funding by way of:
- Site use. As we already own the GSTP, there would be no purchase or lease of buildings. This will 

save a substantial amount. 
- Infrastructure. Similar to above, the infrastructure needed to firstly open the site and run it 

operationally on a daily basis is already in place. 

Page 19



Gloucestershire Economic Growth Joint Committee: 
Strategic Economic Development Fund (SEDF)

May 2021

- Utilities. Although utilities will increase due to increased room use, SGS College will manage and 
maintain these costs as part of the overall site use. 

- Back office functions. As this is a multi-faceted and complex project, additional support will be 
required from SGS College departments including marketing, finance, HR, IT infrastructure, and 
executive team. 

- Administration. There will be project monitoring and reporting needs, which will be completed by 
SGS internal staff. 

Although a monetary value is not available at the time of application submission, the above is 
estimated to be in the region of £100,000 per annum. 

Sustainability Post Project
For project sustainability, a Strategic Development Fund bid administered by the DfE is also being 
submitted. This bid is a collaborative bid involving all Gloucestershire FE Colleges and will focus on 
Green Skills and Digital Skills. The elements included in the SDF bid will complement and build on work 
completed by the SEDF at Berkeley, expanding the curriculum offer by increased revenue support 
ensuring a multiskilled approach is taken.  This will also enable more cross-county work and 
collaboration to take place, adding value to the SEDF project. 
Post SEDF and possible SDF lifespan, there are several income streams that will enable the centre to 
be financially self-sustainable:
- Adult skills. Utilising the adult education budget, both regionally and nationally, will allow funds 

to be drawn down per participants (terms and conditions apply). 
- 16-19 funding. As above, if eligible, funds can be administered for delivering a full-time 

qualification to a learner aged 16-19. 
- Skills Bootcamps. A Government initiative focusing on running short courses designed specifically 

for employer needs. 
- Paid for courses. If participants do not fall into one of the above categories, we would charge 

either the individual or the employer to attend the course. 
If successful, much of the business planning for post project will commence immediately so we have 
a clear vision and financial plan to ensure stability and longevity. This will include the SGS Group CFO 
and executive team. 

Project Status (select from one of the following, and provide brief explanation)

Developed Stage (clear project plan, deliverable, 
but seeking funds)

We have a plan, developed for an earlier 
Department for Education Strategic Development 
Fund bid. We have identified the building space 
and obtained realistic figures of installation costs 
for training rigs. We have conducted market 
research and are at a good starting point, when 
capital investment can be received. 

Project Status: key milestones (where applicable, provide brief notes on the current situation)

Promoter identified  SGS College

Page 20



Gloucestershire Economic Growth Joint Committee: 
Strategic Economic Development Fund (SEDF)

May 2021

Full Business case available Yes

Planning Status n/a

Land Assembly (potential requirement for CPO) n/a

Confirmed Funding Sources None

Design Detail Stage In progress

Earliest Potential Start Date October 2022 

Key challenges associated with Project (give brief indication of the main challenges or risks 
associated with the successful delivery of this project)
 
Challenge / Risk  Potential Impact  / mitigation
Innovation. This project is ahead of 
the curve, what we want to develop 
is innovative and therefore carries an 
element of the unknown. 

Lack of support from other investment sources. 
Unless someone takes this approach and the associated risks, we will 
not move forward with the national ambition. Our research with 
existing employers establishes that there will sufficient demand for 
training but we require the capital investment

Developing suitable training courses. We will establish a Green Skills Stakeholder group, including 
employers to ensure we maintain currency of the curriculum. 
Work with current renewable course awarding bodies and associated 
Higher Education institutes, to understand delivery pre-requisites and 
delivery models. 

Uncertainty on the makeup of the 
future green skills workforce.  

We do not know how much of the emerging sector will be made up of 
fossil-fuel converts, or new entrants. This will impact only on the 
detail within the training programmes, not on the demand. However, 
as a national ambition, getting on board and upskilling in these areas 
will be pivotal to their future continuation. The Green Skills 
Stakeholder group will support the understanding of this and help 
shape the courses appropriately. 

Risk of not establishing the training 
centre

Our employers will access training out of the region and we will lose 
the opportunity to strengthen the role of Gloucestershire at the 
centre of climate change solutions. 

Declaration by Applicant

I certify to the best of my knowledge the information submitted on this form is true and correct.

I have the appropriate level of responsibility to submit this Expression of Interest on behalf of 
my organisation.

I am aware that acceptance of a project on to the CIP does not automatically result in further 
support or funding through any partner organisation.

Page 21



Gloucestershire Economic Growth Joint Committee: 
Strategic Economic Development Fund (SEDF)

May 2021

Signed (on behalf of Promoter) 

Patrick Mcleod

Brendan Cleere (project sponsor, SDC)

Status of signatory (e.g. CEO, company director, authorised agent)

Assistant Principal, Projects 

Stategic Director of Place (project sponsor, SDC)

EOI submission details (see list on front page)

Sent to: 

Date submitted: 

1. net-zero-strategy-beis.pdf (publishing.service.gov.uk)
2. The-Sixth-Carbon-Budget-The-UKs-path-to-Net-Zero.pdf (theccc.org.uk)
3. Skills shortage in 4 key job roles and 3 sector challenges holding back home decarbonisation - 

Energy Systems Catapult
4. Proposal_A4 (western-gateway.co.uk)
5. stroud-district-local-plan_november-2015_low-res_for-web.pdf
6. contents-pages_hyperlinked_pre-submission-draft-plan-2021-copy.pdf (stroud.gov.uk)
7. draft-economic-development-strategy.pdf (stroud.gov.uk)
8. gfirst-lep-gloucestershire-skills-strategy-2022-27.pdf (gfirstlep.com)
9. gloucestershire_draft_local-industrial-strategy_2019-updated.pdf (gfirstlep.com)
10. Local green jobs - accelerating a sustainable economic recovery | LG Inform

Page 22

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1033990/net-zero-strategy-beis.pdf
https://www.theccc.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2020/12/The-Sixth-Carbon-Budget-The-UKs-path-to-Net-Zero.pdf
https://es.catapult.org.uk/news/skills-shortages-holding-back-home-decarbonisation/
https://es.catapult.org.uk/news/skills-shortages-holding-back-home-decarbonisation/
https://western-gateway.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2021/09/IER2-Report-FINAL.pdf
https://www.stroud.gov.uk/media/1455/stroud-district-local-plan_november-2015_low-res_for-web.pdf
https://www.stroud.gov.uk/media/1605269/contents-pages_hyperlinked_pre-submission-draft-plan-2021-copy.pdf
https://www.stroud.gov.uk/media/1784383/draft-economic-development-strategy.pdf
https://www.gfirstlep.com/downloads/2022/gfirst-lep-gloucestershire-skills-strategy-2022-27.pdf?utm_source=GFirst+LEP+Newsletter&utm_campaign=970c337e3a-EMAIL_CAMPAIGN_2020_04_17_12_54_COPY_01&utm_medium=email&utm_term=0_7537d87148-970c337e3a-152695605
https://www.gfirstlep.com/downloads/2020/gloucestershire_draft_local-industrial-strategy_2019-updated.pdf
https://lginform.local.gov.uk/reports/view/lga-research/estimated-total-number-of-direct-jobs-in-low-carbon-and-renewable-energy-sector?mod-area=E09000006&mod-group=AllBoroughInRegion_London&mod-type=namedComparisonGroup


Berkeley Low Carbon Training Centre

Gloucestershire Business Rates Pool – SEDF Funding Assessment 

Gloucestershire Economic Growth Senior Officer Group’s consideration of SEDF application against 
eligibility criteria

The bid is from a ‘sponsoring’ partner authority of the Gloucestershire Economic Growth Joint 
Committee (‘Joint Committee’) or the Gloucestershire Local Economic Partnership

 South Gloucestershire and Stroud (SGS) College (Sponsor Local Authority: Stroud District 
Council)

The bid relates to one off or fixed term funding
One off payment of £450,000

 £300,000 capital investment for the installation of training rigs and redevelopment of room 
works

 £150,000 revenue requirement for 2-year project manager staffing resource including on 
costs

The bid relates to revenue support for enabling activity which:
 Support economic growth projects, partnership support or
 Enable the commissioning of economic research, intelligence, predevelopment work or 

feasibility studies or 
 Provide pump priming funding contributions or 
 Provide essential leverage match funding to support the delivery of broader local economic 

projects or programmes.
Senior Officer Group assessment:

 Support economic growth projects, partnership support

The bid provides evidence of clearly demonstrating the economic benefits and contribution it is 
likely to make in supporting the delivery of growth of the local economy and communities, as 
well as planned outcomes.
Feedback from the Senior Officer Group on the report presented:

 The funding ask needs to be made clear from the outset of the report.  A short one page 
covering report that succinctly outlines the project would aid member understanding.

 The project looks to be undervalued.  Need to understand SGS investment so the total funding 
package is clearly identified.  This could include in-kind contributions

 There is a need for the paper to be more assertive highlighting the regional role it will play
 Need to strengthen links to Local Partnership groups
 There is a need to highlight clear links to target outputs.
 What are the links to partners – i.e., development industry?  
 There should be a focus on the end users – are there links to apprentices that could be made
 The exit strategy needs to be made clear given the revenue support is for only two years.
 The report needs to outline if the SEDF funding will be recycled – this is an important element 

to give members confidence that the project is self-funding.

Page 23



 The site is in a remote part of the county – how will the facility support access arrangements – 
especially those people with out access to a car?

Further conditions if the Gloucestershire Economic Growth Joint Committee approve the bid:

Section 151 Officer’s confirmation that sufficient funds are available in the Strategic Economic 
Development Fund during the relevant financial year.

The S151 officer will provide an update on the available SEDF funding verbally at GEGJC on 19th 
May

Local Strategic Fit Scoring Criteria - Assessment of the ranking of the bid in terms of alignment 
against ‘Strategic Fit’  (as outlined in Annex A)

Terms and conditions of the approved bid (to include any binding conditions to any approved 
funding to which the applicant body will be required to agreed before any release of funding, 
plus reporting requirements)

Recommendations to the Gloucestershire Economic Growth Joint Committee

The Gloucestershire Economic Growth Senior Officer Group recommend that the Berkeley Low 
Carbon Training Centre SEDF application be supported.

Page 24



Gloucestershire Economic Growth Joint Committee – 
City Region Board Fund Bid

REPORT TITLE: Gloucestershire Mass Transit Transport Scheme 

Date decision will 
be taken

19th May 2022

Lead GCC Officer Dr David Land
Purpose of Report Request £850K City Region Board funding for Options Appraisal Report 

(OAR) and Strategic Outline Case (SOC) in order to progress the 
Gloucestershire mass transit transport scheme.

Recommendations
£850K City Region Board funding is approved for development works (OAR 
and SOC) for the Gloucestershire mass transit transport scheme.

Reasons for 
Recommendations

The pressing need to deliver transformative transport decarbonisation in the 
county by 2030, as acknowledged by all councils. The delivery of a high-
quality mass rapid transit system is a key measure to achieve the substantial 
modal shift necessary.

The opportunity cost of funding this work is far lower than any comparable 
decarbonisation scheme that could be delivered in the county. There is 
nothing else that can have this much positive impact for this many people 
over such a large area as mass transit. 

Resource 
Implications

£850K required to fund the OAR and SOC. 
Officer time.

Background 
Documents

Adopted Gloucestershire Local Transport Plan (LTP) 
Mass Transit pre-feasibility study
Bus Service Improvement Plan (BSIP) 2022

Page 25

Agenda Item 8



Background 

1. Gloucestershire County Council (GCC) is in the early stages of developing a potential 
mass transit scheme in Central Gloucestershire. The development of mass transit has 
been identified as a key intervention to address the climate emergency declared by all 
Gloucestershire councils in 2019 and also to help achieve the Gloucestershire 2050 Vision. 

2. A Pre-feasibility study has identified several broad corridors in Central Gloucestershire 
where there is sufficient demand to introduce mass transit:

 South West Gloucester to Gloucester city centre.
 Gloucester to Cheltenham.
 Cheltenham town centre to North West Cheltenham (potential extensions into North 

West and West Cheltenham development sites).
 Cheltenham town centre to Bishop’s Cleeve (with potential extension to Ashchurch).

3. Mass transit will provide a step change in public transport provision through the delivery of 
high levels of mode segregation and connection with other transport modes. This will vastly 
improve connectivity – travel times, accessibility, frequency and affordability - in Central 
Gloucestershire, increasing access to employment, education and other services. This in 
turn will drive economic development through a marked increase in the ability for 
employers and employees to connect, attracting a stronger pool of workers to the county 
by delivering sustainable access to jobs, services, leisure and retail facilities. 

4. With transport accounting for 32% of all CO2 emissions per capita in Gloucestershire in 
2018, decisive and transformative action is needed now to generate significant modal shift 
away from the car and help achieve Gloucestershire’s climate target on time. All seven 
Gloucestershire councils declared a climate emergency in 2019 and signed up to the 
Gloucestershire’s Climate Change Strategy which includes a commitment to deliver a 
carbon neutral county by 2050 (now brought forward to 2045). 

5. At the Climate Leadership Group on 13th April 2022, the group received a detailed 
assessment of the need to address transport decarbonisation within Gloucestershire if we 
are to achieve the zero carbon ambitions expressed by both the County Council and 
District Councils. The delivery of a high quality mass rapid transit system as soon as 
possible was acknowledged by all those present as a key measure to achieve the modal 
shift necessary within the county and it was recommended that GEGJC should give 
consideration to the provision of funding to enable the next stage in the development of the 
mass rapid transit system to go ahead.

6. Numerous case studies have shown that mass transit provides mobility, can shape land 
use and development patterns, generate jobs and enable economic growth, and support 
public policies regarding energy use, air quality and carbon emissions.

7. A bus rapid transit (BRT) mass transit system has been identified as the preferred form of 
mass transit, as it is appropriate for the level of demand identified and flexible.

8. Mass transit is key to economic growth in Gloucestershire as it will improve connectivity, 
thereby increasing productivity and accommodating sustainable future growth. A study in 
the USA, showed that planned public transportation investments would yield a 2 to 1 return 

Page 26



while helping to generate income for local businesses, its workers and their 
neighbourhoods.

9. A Gloucestershire Mass Transit Feasibility Study is nearing completion and is expected to 
be published in Spring 2022. Development funding is required to progress to the OAR 
stage in 2022/23 (also to include development of an Appraisal Specification Report (ASR)). 
This would be followed by an SOC in 2023/24. Construction could commence in 2027 at 
the earliest – depending on securing both funding and planning permission.

10.The OAR is costed at £300K and the SOC is costed at £550K. These reports will: produce 
an evidence base, establish options for mass transit, appraise options for mass transit, 
analyse the environmental impact, include an engineering / feasibility study and detailed 
transport modelling, as well as stakeholder engagement. 

11. It is expected that mass transit will provide the following benefits in Gloucestershire:

a. Enhancing the local economy – greater connectivity across and through urban areas 
is central to attracting investment and accommodating future sustainable growth.

b. Reducing road congestion – mass transit is key to encouraging modal shift away 
from private vehicles, thus reducing congestion.

c. Increase access to jobs, education and services – mass transit provides a step 
change in public transport provision through providing high levels of segregation and 
connection with other transport modes. This will increase access to employment, 
education and other services for all and thereby increase productivity.

d. Reduce CO2 emissions and air pollution – mass transit has been identified as a key 
intervention to address the climate change emergency declared by all seven 
Gloucestershire councils in 2019 and aims for carbon zero by 2045. Addressing the 
climate emergency is vital to protect future productivity.

12.Mass transit aligns with the Strategic Economic Plan (SEP) as it will deliver digital and 
integrated transport connectivity, one of the key aims of the Plan. Mass transit is key to 
ensuring transport infrastructure meets the future needs of the businesses and people of 
Gloucestershire. It will also improve productivity through connecting people to jobs and 
services, helping to retain young talent and attract new investment (the key aim of the 
Gloucestershire 2050 Vision). It will also provide firms with a strong means of attracting 
new talent to the region. 

13.The Draft Local Industrial Strategy (LIS) identifies a mass transport solution providing a 
reliable, quick and clean link between Cheltenham and Gloucester as a key investment 
priority, as part of the aim to create real alternatives to travel by car in Gloucestershire. 

14.The recently adopted LTP outlines the ambition to deliver the concept of mass transit and 
identifies a potential Mass Public Transit Area.

15.Evidence of need/demand is illustrated via:

a. High population density/growing population – 38% of Gloucestershire’s population 
lives within Cheltenham/Gloucester (ONS, 2021).

Page 27



b. Poor connectivity/accessibility for non-car modes – a trip between Quedgeley and 
Cheltenham is 1 hour by bus and 24 minutes by car (Google journey times).

c. High car ownership/high car trip rates – 81% of households in 
Cheltenham/Gloucester have access to a car, above the national average (74%) 
(2011 census).

d. Congestion and delay/CO2 emissions and air pollution – nationally cars account for 
55% of transport-related greenhouse gas emissions (LTP).

e. Constraint to economic development – several central wards rank amongst the 20% 
most deprived nationally (IMD). Gloucester is a Category 1 authority in the Levelling 
Up Fund index with issues around productivity.

f. Constraint on delivering sustainable development/placemaking – LTP outlines a 
vision for a ‘City region’ with a reliable, sustainable transport network.

g. Challenge of achieving Net Zero target – transport accounts for 32% of CO2 
emissions in Gloucestershire (LTP, 2018)

16.  The recently initiated Interchange Strategy has the goal of integrating mass transit with 
interchange hubs across the county. These will provide focal points at which commuters 
and other travellers into central Gloucestershire from all other districts can make an easy, 
cost-effective, sustainable transition onto the central mass transit system. This may be via 
a park and ride process, or a sustainable connection or by buses serving rural areas 
accessing the mass transit segregated system. It is important that all of Gloucestershire’s 
residents – both urban and rural – can benefit from the mass transit system, including 
those in the Forest of Dean, Tewkesbury Borough, Stroud District and the Cotswolds. 

Options

17.GEGJC agree to GCC’s £850K City Region funding request to progress the 
Gloucestershire mass transit OAR and SOC. 

18.GEGJC decline the funding request.

Risks 

Challenge / Risk Potential Impact/mitigation
No capital funding stream 
identified at this stage.

Project still at an early stage and the project team will 
engage with the DfT and Western Gateway to identify 
opportunities.

Need for alignment between 
future development and 
mass transit.

The project team will work with all of the District 
Councils, in particular the Joint Strategic Plan (JSP) 
authorities, to ensure that future development 
complements mass transit and maximises possible 
levels of demand.

Mass transit is considered 
the only solution to 
decarbonisation and 
economic growth.

The project team will work across the board with 
colleagues and stakeholders, including the carbon 
pathways team, active travel team, rail team and 
others, to ensure mass transit is a strong part of the 
change required, rather than a siloed activity.

Page 28



Mass transit is not 
distinguishable from bus 
priority measures

Mass transit as a complete system has different 
objectives, different processes and different solutions 
(segregation, frequency, locations, economic 
development and so on), so whilst it needs to work in 
sync with the bus network, not be a competitor, 
equally, it needs to be considered as a different 
solution to a different problem than local buses. 

Financial implications

19.A high level cost analysis has shown that constructing mass transit in all four indicative 
corridors is estimated to cost between £180-440 million for a bus type mass transit system 
and between £1.1-£2.2 billion for a light rail (LRT) mass transit system. These total 
constructions costs are based on initial cost ranges per route km which were taken from a 
number of case studies of similar mass transit schemes which have already been 
constructed. (The indicative cost ranges used were £5-10 million per km for BRT and £30-
50 million per km for LRT). 

20.Based on our current understanding of the study area and scope requirements (excluding 
any surveys), we are requesting £850K from the City Region Board Fund to support 
development of an OAR and ASR (2022/23) and an SOC (2023/24).

21.As part of the completed pre-feasibility stage of the project, a high-level analysis of scheme 
revenue and viability was undertaken using estimated patronage levels, and indicative 
fares and operating costs. This has shown that, if assuming a BRT type mass transit 
system, all of the corridors would provide a revenue surplus, with an estimated total year 
revenue surplus of £6.6-8.9 million, making BRT a viable option.

Climate change implications

22.At the Climate Leadership Group on 13th April 2022, the group received a detailed 
assessment of the need to address transport decarbonisation within Gloucestershire if we 
are to achieve the zero carbon ambitions expressed by both the County and District 
authorities. The delivery of a high quality mass rapid transit system as soon as possible 
was acknowledged by all those present as a key measure to achieve the modal shift 
necessary.

Equality implications

Has an Equalities Impact Assessment (EIA) been completed? Yes / No

23.This will be undertaken as part of the SOC process.

Data Protection Impact Assessment (DPIA) implications

24.A DPIA will be undertaken as part of the SOC work, before any consultations take place. 

Page 29



25.GCC will engage with landowners, stakeholders, local authorities and the public to gather 
feedback on mass transit proposals during the SOC and/or following development stages. 
Views and comments received during the consultation will be considered 
and summarised in a public consultation report.

26.The information given by respondents for any survey undertaken will be treated as 
confidential and in accordance with UK data protection legislation. Responses received as 
part of the consultations will be anonymised, stored and handled in accordance with GCC’s 
policy on General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR). 

Social value implications

27.Procuring locally as much as possible means we can deliver added value: using local 
businesses and/or staff that are based in the area in order to deliver the mass transit 
scheme as a whole – ranging from the consultants delivering the OAR and SOC to 
construction firms actually building the scheme.

Consultation feedback

28.Consultation and stakeholder engagement will occur as part of the SOC and subsequent 
stages of development, such as any planning applications that may be required.

29.The GCC project team will develop strategies for improving engagement with seldom 
heard groups around infrastructure consultation. Our consultants will be tasked with 
developing a set of strategies which will be deployed in support of any consultation. 
Several different groups have been identified that are not often heard from during 
consultations, and actions will be undertaken to try and engage with these groups. 
Examples of some of these are outlined below:

Seldom Heard
groups Engagement activities

Commuters travelling
through the scheme 
area
Seasonal road users

Online information widely publicised through local 
businesses and media.

Time poor 

Online information including recorded content available, 
including virtual event recordings.
Postcard drops to local residents and businesses.
Updates and engagement via social media.
Design of the feedback survey will be concise and easy to 
use so people can leave feedback in a short time.

Those unable to 
access the internet

Option to request a hard copy of the consultation materials 
by phone or pick up a hard copy of the brochure and survey 
at public libraries.
Ability to respond to the consultation by post.
Postcard drops to local residents and businesses.
Posters displayed in community facilities.

Disabled groups Contact representatives of local disability groups.

Page 30



Option to request hard copy consultation materials by 
phone.
Ability to respond to consultation by post.
Option to request documents in accessible formats.
Posters displayed in community facilities.

Black and Minority 
Ethnic (BAME) groups

Contact representatives of local community groups.
Postcard drops to local residents and businesses and 
poster displayed in community facilities.

Young people 

Online information including recorded content available, 
including virtual event recordings.
Contact directly with schools, colleges and universities 
across the whole county.
Design of surveys will be concise and easy to use so 
people can leave feedback in a short time.
Updates and engagement via various social media outlets.
Possibility for focus groups with a wide range of young 
people. 

Officer recommendation

30.Recommended that £850K City Region Board funding is approved for development works 
(OAR and SOC) for the Gloucestershire mass transit transport scheme.

Performance management/follow-up

31.Progress will be managed through regular reporting from consultants working on the OAR 
and SOC. 

32.Oversight will be achieved through regular reporting via monthly GCC Cabinet member 
meetings. In 2020/21 through the pre-feasibility stage, we held three online meetings with 
Cabinet members to ensure members were aware of the scheme, the point of mass transit 
scheme, what it would bring to Gloucestershire, how it would help with climate change, and 
to allow for member contributions to the scheme development. We will reinstate these 
meetings for the OAR stage. Briefings were also provided to all District Councils, as will be 
the case in the future. 

Page 31



This page is intentionally left blank



Gloucestershire Economic Growth Joint Committee: 
Strategic Economic Development Fund (SEDF)

1

Expression of Interest (EOI) / BID

Gloucestershire Economic Growth: Strategic Economic Development Fund (SEDF): 

This fund is for the benefit of the whole of Gloucestershire, and utilising funds from the current 
Gloucestershire Local Authority Business Rates Pool. It facilitates collective work on the 
economic development agenda and reflects the commitment of the Pool participants to drive 
economic investment which also links to the planning and infrastructure process. Eligibility 
criteria for the fund has been established and agreed by all participants, against which bids 
for funding are assessed. 

Access to the Fund is for the principal stakeholders only – the Local Authorities and Local 
Economic Partnership, and any project or funding request will need to have a clearly identified 
sponsoring lead organisation/contact. Expression of Interest submissions should be 
completed and submitted for consideration by the Gloucestershire Economic Growth Joint 
Committee Senior Officer Support Group, at a relevant meeting. They will assess its potential 
against the criteria and whether a good strategic fit. This mirrors the same approach adopted 
for the consideration of new projects for the Gloucestershire Capital Investment Pipeline (CIP).

Project Name (Be specific not general, to avoid confusion with other similar projects or locations)

A world-leading Innovation Village at the Royal Agricultural University (RAU), Cirencester.

Request for specialist project management support to the value of £100,000. 

(This is to be match-funded by the RAU, who have already invested in excess of £200,000 on 
professional fees for the project – a continuation of which will be required to progress to an outline 
planning application.)

Investment theme: Tick the primary theme that best fits your project. If applicable, also tick a sub 
theme. If ‘other’ state and explain.)
Primary Investment theme:
Business Environment □ Housing □ Infrastructure □ Place Shaping x Skills and Employment Other □

Sub investment theme:
Digital □  Education x □  Employment □ Energy  □ Housing □ Regeneration □ Transport Other □

Promoter Details
Promoter Organisation Cotswold District Council (supported by Gloucestershire County 

Council and GFirst LEP)

Promoter Address Cotswold District Council, Trinity Road, Cirencester

Primary Contact (name & job 
title)

Paul James, Economic Development Lead, Cotswold District 
Council

Rob Weaver CEO, Cotswold District Council

Page 33

Agenda Item 9



Gloucestershire Economic Growth Joint Committee: 
Strategic Economic Development Fund (SEDF)

2

Email Address paul.james@cotswold.gov.uk; robert.weaver@cotswold.gov.uk

Contact Telephone Number 01285 623558

Project Summary (Max 250 words) (Describe your project idea clearly and succinctly, including what 
the investment would buy, and why it would lead to economic growth for Gloucestershire. Include 
the potential timeframe, and any significant drivers or constraints related to the scheduling of the 
investment.
Include details of the organisation(s) that would be involved in its delivery, and why public funds are 
needed).

The development of a globally leading Innovation Village on the Royal Agricultural University’s 12 
hectare ‘University Gate’ site will do for food security and agri-tech, what the Golden Valley 
development will do for cyber security – and provide some direct synergies.

The carbon-neutral development will harness the power of the land and rural communities to meet 
global challenges of climate change, biodiversity and food security.  It will provide a home to a global 
community of influencers, practitioners, researchers and entrepreneurs, capitalising upon the 
University’s reputation as a world-leading specialist provider for sustainable farming and land 
management.

The Innovation Village will be a catalyst for growth across multiple dimensions, including:

 Research – to attract and accelerate academic and industry R&D outputs, research funding 
and knowledge transfer

 Education – from rural skills through to executive education, an expansion of relevant, 
practical education provided to business and the community

 Business development – expansion of the successful Farm491 and Growth Hub facilities 
 Commercial – an associated 80-bed hotel and conferencing facilities to support the business 

communities regionally, nationally and globally
 Affordable living – live-work studios that will help attract and retain graduates, business 

owners and entrepreneurs
 Connectivity – improve sustainable transport links to Cirencester and Kemble Train Station

The project has the full support of the RAU’s Governing Council, led by the Chair Dame Fiona Reynolds, 
and is attracting positive interest across the private, public and charitable sectors. The project is 
moving at pace aiming to acquire outlining planning permission in 2022, with a view of breaking 
ground in late 2024.

Summary of benefits/outcomes that will be delivered (Max 250 words) (Expanding on your 
summary, provide information on the tangible benefits or outcomes that would be delivered, leading 
to the growth of the Gloucestershire economy. These could address challenges or capitalise on 
opportunities, including those associated with improving productivity.
List the expected benefits, estimated quantities and indicate the timescales).

Page 34

mailto:paul.james@cotswold.gov.uk
mailto:robert.weaver@cotswold.gov.uk


Gloucestershire Economic Growth Joint Committee: 
Strategic Economic Development Fund (SEDF)

3

The GDV of the Innovation is estimated to be circa £75M in totality.  This investment would lead to 
the following economic benefits:

 New businesses – doubling the current outputs of Farm491 and Growth Hub within first five 
years of operations, representing additional £35M of investment, 120 jobs created, and 
support for 200 start-ups and SMEs 

 High-value job creation – new Academic and R&D opportunities estimated at 50FTE 

 Provision of skills, training, employment and affordable housing, targeted towards improving 
retention of 16-24yr olds.     

 Research funding – attracting annual research income of £10M p.a. by 2030, growing from 
current baseline of £2M p.a.

 Student growth – the RAU aims to grow its UG and PG student population by 600 by 2030, 
which will be supported (directly and indirectly) by the Innovation Village

 Increase in conferencing business, and associated revenue growth – estimated value of £5M 
p.a. 

According to a study undertaken in 2020 by Hatch Regeneris, the Royal Agricultural University 
contributes GVA of £20M to the local economy and £32M to the regional economy.  This development 
aims to increase this by at least 75%. 

In addition, there will be benefits to the prosperity and productivity of rural communities, locally and 
regionally.  The Innovation Village will provide a rural counterbalance to the proposed developments 
in the urban core of the county such as Cyber Central in Cheltenham and Kings Quarter/The Forum in 
Gloucester.  Indeed, alongside these developments GFirstLEP have commented how:

“The Innovation Village project will contribute significantly to making Gloucestershire a ‘magnet’ 
county and as a location with an un-paralleled quality of work-life balance.”

Page 35



Gloucestershire Economic Growth Joint Committee: 
Strategic Economic Development Fund (SEDF)

4

Strategic Fit (Max 150 words) (Give the local, regional or national context for your project. Explain 
how it clearly aligns to the Strategic Economic Plan v2 
https://www.gfirstlep.com/downloads/2018/sep-2-update2018v3.pdf
and complements the local District strategies and delivery plans

It addresses global challenges including the climate, ecological and food security crises, building on 
the role of the RAU’s Professoriate as authors of the National Food Strategy and Nutrient Management 
Strategy.  It strengthens the RAU’s role as a world-leading specialist provider for sustainable farming 
and land management, and supports and delivers against the Strategic Economic Plan and Draft Local 
Industrial Strategy which identify agri-tech as a key growth sector.  It also builds on successful GFirst 
investment in Farm491 and the Cirencester Growth Hub.

The Council’s ‘Green Economic Growth Strategy’ 2021-25 promotes agri-tech and the need for ‘high 
value, high-skilled, low environmental impact jobs’ and specifically references this site as a priority.

It complements activities and investment at Hartpury University/College and links with the GFirst 
funded Applied Digital Skills Centre at Cirencester College which opens in May 2022, and the approved 
Steadings development for 2,350 homes and 9 hectares of employment land.

Evidence of need or demand (Max 150 words) (give details of the evidence you can reference that 
supports your case that there is a need or demand for this project)

In addition to well documented global challenges relating to climate, food and biodiversity, the impact 
of Brexit and major changes anticipated in UK agricultural policy have placed even greater emphasis 
upon coordination of knowledge and expertise between universities, and beyond universities to 
include government, policy-makers, industry and practitioners. 

Whilst many universities have developed centres of excellence to focus upon specific academic 
aspects of these challenges, a proposition that focuses upon people, community and cross-sector, 
multi-organisational approaches, is both timely and unique in the UK.

The RAU is already responding to this demand for coordinated action, demonstrated most recently by 
DEFRA’s decision to choose the RAU to host its launch of the UK Agricultural Partnership.

Summary of the project costs and any sources of funding: (Estimated total capital cost of the 
project, and (if available) list the main elements of the budget. Provide details of any potential or 
secured source(s) of funding and the likely shortfall.)

RAU has spent to date in excess of £200K on professional fees and has devoted significant amounts of 
senior management and professoriate time.  

The project could form part of Cotswold District Council’s Local Investment Plan for the UK Shared 
Prosperity Fund.

Cotswold District Council is considering making a contribution from its own resources.  

Page 36

https://www.gfirstlep.com/downloads/2018/sep-2-update2018v3.pdf


Gloucestershire Economic Growth Joint Committee: 
Strategic Economic Development Fund (SEDF)

5

In addition, this project could form part of a Cotswold Levelling Up Fund bid in respect of the capital 
costs.

Discussions are already underway with potential partners, including businesses, trusts and 
foundations, and RAU alumni (many of whom hold senior positions within relevant national and 
international businesses).

GFirst LEP is promoting this development as an investment opportunity at the UK Regeneration, 
Investment and Infrastructure Forum in Leeds from 17th-19th May.

Summary of the Revenue Investment(s) required (Explain how the project would be deliverable and 
sustainable by explaining the sources of revenue funding to support the likely cost needed to deliver 
the project following the capital investment)
The next stage is to engage specialist Project Management expertise, in order to coordinate the 
design, architectural and planning functions over the next 22 months – until 31st March 2024.

The cost of this Project Management for this period is estimated to be in excess of £100,000 – i.e. 
£55K per year.  This costing has been established through conversations with industry experts and 
the RAU’s planning consultant.

The £100,000 grant investment will allow the University to bring in expertise to focus solely on this 
project to ensure the momentum and pace that has been built up continues thereby realising the 
Innovation Village vision and unlocking the significant local economic benefits it will bring.

Project Status (select from one of the following, and provide brief explanation)

Concept Stage (very early stages, requires 
considerable development before it could be 
considered for funding)

Outline Stage (early stages, some detail clear but 
longer term aspiration which will need further 
development)

The site is allocated in the CDC Local Plan for 
uses allied to the University and an outline 
planning permission has been granted, although 
this will need to be updated.

A vision document was created following work 
by RAU’s senior management and academics.

An architect’s conceptual plan has also been 
produced, showing how the Innovation Village 
and related facilities can be laid out on the 
available land.

Developed Stage (clear project plan, deliverable, 
but seeking funds)

Page 37



Gloucestershire Economic Growth Joint Committee: 
Strategic Economic Development Fund (SEDF)

6

Mobilising Stage (project moving close to 
delivery, which still has some challenges to 
overcome)

Project Status: key milestones (where applicable, provide brief notes on the current situation)

Promoter identified  Cotswold District Council

Full Business Case Available The funding request of GEGJC will facilitate the 
delivery of a Business Case by funding Project 
Management expertise.

Planning Status It is proposed to submit an outline planning 
application during 2022.  The site is already 
allocated in CDC’s Local Plan.

Land Assembly (potential requirement for CPO) The site is already in the ownership of the RAU.

Confirmed Funding Sources Currently funded by the RAU.  

GFirst LEP is promoting this development as an 
investment opportunity at the UK Regeneration, 
Investment and Infrastructure Forum in Leeds 
from 17th-19th May.  

Suitable private sector partners are being 
identified.

Design Detail Stage From the present to early 2024.

Earliest Potential Start Date Construction phase to start late 2024.

Key challenges associated with Project (give brief indication of the main challenges or risks 
associated with the successful delivery of this project)
 
Challenge / Risk Potential Impact / Mitigation
Funding (full project) The RAU has funded the project to date.  By its nature, the 

development lends itself to significant public and private sector 
funding, given its likely economic impact and contribution to 
solving key climate, ecological, and food security challenges.

Political Political risks will be mitigated by briefing all political groups on 
CDC and the local MP Sir Geoffrey Clifton-Brown, who is an RAU 
alumnus.

Page 38



Gloucestershire Economic Growth Joint Committee: 
Strategic Economic Development Fund (SEDF)

7

Resources Having insufficient resources to move the project to the next 
stage could mean a loss of momentum, and that this unique 
opportunity to bring about a development which helps to meet 
global challenges is delayed or lost.

The requested £100,000 is a tiny fraction of the economic and 
societal value that the development will produce.

Declaration by Applicant

I certify to the best of my knowledge the information submitted on this form is true and correct.

I have the appropriate level of responsibility to submit this Expression of Interest on behalf of my 
organisation.

I am aware that acceptance of a project on to the CIP does not automatically result in further 
support or funding through any partner organisation.

Signed (on behalf of Promoter) 

__________________________________________________________

29th April 2022

Status of signatory (e.g. CEO, company director, authorised agent)

Chief Executive
_________________________________________________________

EOI submission details (see list on front page)

Sent to: Gloucestershire Senior Officer Group c/o Angela Presdee, Gloucestershire County Council  

Date submitted: April 2022

Page 39



This page is intentionally left blank



Invest, Innovate, Grow.

120  
minutes

TO LONDON

GLOUCESTERSHIRE IS THE PERFECT 
PLACE TO LIVE, WORK AND THRIVE.

35,000  
students

IN HIGHER EDUCATION

Major Growth in the Heart of the Cotswolds

•   Gloucestershire, nestled in the Cotswolds and just 2 hours from London.

•   Significant economic development across its leading sectors: cyber, digital 
technology, agritech, aerospace and renewable energy.

•   New investment in gigabit-capable broadband via the ‘Fastershire’ Programme.

•   Expansion at both Airports, with new commercial space, including hangars.

•   Enhanced travel between and within the County, including a new ‘cycle spine’  
to facilitate more sustainable activities.

Key New Developments

•   Golden Valley scheme in Cheltenham, leveraging its proximity to GCHQ to create 
the UK’s only cyber-focussed campus, with 2m sq ft of office space, 3700 homes 
and leisure facilities.

•   The Forum development in Gloucester, significant employment, residential and 
leisure use, as well as a new campus for the University of Gloucestershire.

6.1  
million

POPULATION WITHIN  
60 MILE RADIUS

Page 41



YO U R  O P P O RT U N I T Y  TO  I N V E ST

Your opportunity to invest

Our vision

AGRICULTURAL 
COLLEGE IN ENGLISH 

SPEAKING WORLD

CHOICE PARTNER 
FOR OVERSEAS 
GOVERNMENTS

RAU: A global player
Why RAU?

THE INNOVATION 
VILLAGE @ RAU
U N I V E R S I T Y  G A T E

A development that harnesses the power  
of the land and rural communities to meet 
global challenges.

Rural communities are on the front line of the 
climate, nature and food security crises. How 
we use our land holds many of the solutions.

The Innovation Village @RAU will be a home to 
a global community of influencers, practitioners, 
researchers and entrepreneurs, united by this 
vision and a thirst for transformative innovation, 
in the heart of the Cotswolds.

Further details can be obtained  
by emailing universitygate@rau.ac.uk

Investment opportunity with the  
Royal Agricultural University –  
a new Innovation Village

•   World leader in rural land  
management since 1845 and 
recognised global brand. 

•   Multi-Use Scheme: commercial and 
academic space, residential and hotel. 

•   Tackling the challenges from  
climate change and food security  
– new products and services.

•   Outline planning within 9 months. 1st 1st

Page 42



Development zones

Invest, Innovate, Grow.

Email universitygate@rau.ac.uk for more information.

THE GROWTH OF  
THE ROYAL  
AGRICULTURAL  
UNIVERSITY –  
AN INVESTMENT  
OPPORTUNITY 

Development zones

Outline planning permission is 
being sought within 9 months and 
has strong buy-in from local and 
national partners across industry 
and Government. We welcome 
investors to join us on helping 
shape this exciting development.

Further details can be obtained by 
emailing universitygate@rau.ac.uk.

As society grapples with the 
challenges around climate change 
and food security, the University is 
reaching out to industry through 
its vast international network to 
establish a new Innovation Village. 

Outline planning will be  
applied for by December 2022

Research & Education

Live-Work Residential

Incubator Space and  
Tech Testing

80 Bed Hotel & Farm 
Shop/Restaurant

Zone

1

2

3

4

KEY

Page 43



This page is intentionally left blank



Royal Agricultural University’s ‘University Gate’

Gloucestershire Business Rates Pool – SEDF Funding Assessment 

Gloucestershire Economic Growth Senior Officer Group’s consideration of SEDF application against 
eligibility criteria

The bid is from a ‘sponsoring’ partner authority of the Gloucestershire Economic Growth Joint 
Committee (‘Joint Committee’) or the Gloucestershire Local Economic Partnership

 Cotswold District Council (supported by Gloucestershire County Council and GFirst LEP)

The bid relates to one off or fixed term funding
One off revenue payment of £100,000

 Request for specialist project management support to the value of £100,000

The bid relates to revenue support for enabling activity which:
 Support economic growth projects, partnership support or
 Enable the commissioning of economic research, intelligence, predevelopment work or 

feasibility studies or 
 Provide pump priming funding contributions or 
 Provide essential leverage match funding to support the delivery of broader local economic 

projects or programmes.
Senior Officer Group assessment:

 Support economic growth projects, partnership support

The bid provides evidence of clearly demonstrating the economic benefits and contribution it is 
likely to make in supporting the delivery of growth of the local economy and communities, as 
well as planned outcomes.
Feedback from the Senior Officer Group on the report presented:

 A short one page covering report that succinctly outlines the project would aid member 
understanding

 This is a countywide initiative, and the report needs to highlight those countywide links
 The benefits to the Gloucestershire economy need to be clearly articulated
 The multiplier effect of this project on the economy could be significant
 The issue of moving at pace need to be strengthen within the bid to provide assurances that 

the scheme can be delivered within a short time
 References to the UKSPF should be clearer as this feels like a UKSPF project
 The bid feels like a loan to kick start the project.  The report needs to outline if the SEDF 

funding will be recycled – this is an important element to give members confidence that the 
project is self-funding.

Page 45



Further conditions if the Gloucestershire Economic Growth Joint Committee approve the bid:

Section 151 Officer’s confirmation that sufficient funds are available in the Strategic Economic 
Development Fund during the relevant financial year.

The S151 officer will provide an update on the available SEDF funding verbally at GEGJC on 19th 
May

Local Strategic Fit Scoring Criteria - Assessment of the ranking of the bid in terms of alignment 
against ‘Strategic Fit’  (as outlined in Annex A)

Terms and conditions of the approved bid (to include any binding conditions to any approved 
funding to which the applicant body will be required to agreed before any release of funding, 
plus reporting requirements)

Recommendations to the Gloucestershire Economic Growth Joint Committee

The Gloucestershire Economic Growth Senior Officer Group recommend that the Royal 
Agricultural University’s ‘University Gate’ SEDF application be supported.

Page 46



1

Meeting GLOUCESTERSHIRE ECONOMIC GROWTH JOINT COMMITTEE 
(GEGJC) 

Report Author Lisa McCance, Director, Shared Intelligence (economic development 
consultant to GCC)

Background 
documents

Funding opportunity: UK Shared Prosperity Fund (UKSPF)

Location/Contact 
for inspection of 
background 
documents

N/A

Main Consultees Gloucestershire Economic Development Leads

Purpose of report To update the Committee in respect of the UKSPF.

Recommendations That the Committee notes the content of the paper and comments on 
progress so far. 

Reason for 
recommendations

To explore the opportunities of the UKSPF and discuss the potential 
for collaboration. 
 

Resource 
Implications

There are no further resource implications. 

Page 47

Agenda Item 11



2

1.1 Background

This paper seeks to set out the parameters of the UKSPF, including the Multiply 
programme and the core UKSPF.

1.2 Context

The UKSPF has been designed by government as the replacement funding for EU 
investment. At a national level, £2.6bn is being allocated to district, unitary and 
combined authorities over the next three years. This equates to investment of £0.4bn 
in 2022-23, £0.7bn in 2023-24 and £1.5bn in 2024-25.

The primary goal of the UKSPF is to build pride in place and increase life chances 
across the UK through the support of high-quality skills training, improving pay, 
supporting employment and productivity growth. It aligns with Levelling Up White 
Paper missions, particularly “by 2030, pride in place, such as people’s satisfaction 
with their town centre and engagement in local culture and community, will have 
risen in every area of the UK, with the gap between the top performing and other 
areas closing”.

The fund includes two parts. Multiply (adult numeracy) and the core UKSPF which 
has three themes including: communities and place; supporting local business; 
people and skills (which comes into effect from 2024/25 onwards).  

The UKSPF is intended to fund support towards achieving government policies and 
initiatives. This includes net zero, green growth and broad levelling up ambitions 
along with employment and skills support. Priorities across rural areas have also 
been highlighted. The parameters of the fund include the need to agree and 
commission people and skills activity, or business support activity over a larger scale 
to achieve representative of the full local labour market or business base where 
relevant.

1.3 At a Gloucestershire level

The total allocation to Gloucestershire across the two programmes is just under 
£10m. The below section of this report highlights some of the key facts surrounding 
the two programmes.

Multiply
The Multiply (adult numeracy) programme allocation over 3-years is £2,742,440. This 
allocation goes to the County Council (subject to an investment case) for activity to 
be delivered at a county-wide level. Multiply is 100% revenue funding. It builds on 
existing statutory entitlement for funding of maths qualifications up to, and including, 
Level 2 in the Adult Education Budget. It can also be used to fund non-learning 
activities and capacity support such as outreach, administration, communications and 
encouraging people to take the first step towards participation in formal learning. 

The main outcomes highlighted under the Multiply programme include:

1. More adults achieving maths qualifications in numeracy courses and an 
increase in participation in these courses. 

2. Improved labour market outcomes i.e. an increase in the proportion of adults 
that progress into sustained employment and / or education. 

Page 48



3

3. Increased adult numeracy across the population.

Core UKSPF
The total allocation for the core UKSPF is £7,055,350 over 3-years. This will go to the 
district councils across Gloucestershire (subject to an approved local investment 
plan) and include:

• Cheltenham £1,178,035
• Cotswold £1,000,000
• Forest of Dean £1,000,000
• Gloucester £1,486,352
• Stroud £1,378,985
• Tewkesbury £1,011,978

The core UKSPF allows 10% of the funds to be spent on capital in the first year, 
increasing to 13% then 20% in subsequent years. The fund can be used flexibly to 
support interventions across the three themes including grant to public or private 
organisations, commissioning third party organisations, procurement of service 
provision or in-house provision and loans (in “limited circumstances”). There is a 
prescribed set of interventions, outputs and outcomes for the fund but there is also 
flexibility for the inclusion of other measures, subject to agreement. 

1.4 Developing local investment plans

Under both Multiply and the core UKSPF, the county council and the districts have 
been tasked to develop an investment plan. These plans need to be supported by 
evidence and a rationale for why and how investment is required to support local 
opportunities and challenges. 

The guidance for UKSPF makes numerous references for the need to collaborate 
across the fund. These references include a long list of organisations, networks and 
government departments including (where relevant to each place) neighbouring 
authorities, county councils, employment and skills stakeholders, including Jobcentre 
Plus employer bodies, MPs, civil society organisations, LEPs, businesses or 
business representative groups, Local Skills Improvement Plans and Skills Advisory 
Panels, Voluntary and Community Sector and rural representatives, etc.

In preparation for this, the County Council has commissioned an evidence base, a 
review of strategies across the county and the development of a local investment 
framework at a county level. This suite of documents will be developed to support the 
county’s Multiply business case as well as the districts’ submission to government 
under the core UKSPF. This should help to inform decision making over priorities and 
investment plans appreciating that each lead partner has overall responsibility for the 
creation of their own investment plan. 

It has also convened an economic development officers’ forum, meeting monthly 
since February 2022, in order to collaborate, share plans and potentially develop joint 
projects. This group is well positioned to explore any economies of scale and 
understand where gaps in provision across the themes may exist based on local 
evidence.

1.5 Wider funding opportunities

Partners across the county are also considering further opportunities of the Levelling 
Up Fund Round 2. 

Page 49



4

In Round 1, the county received funding for three including:
- Investment for Gloucester City Centre
- Gloucester Docks Sustainable Travel Improvements
- Levelling up the Future of the Forest (of Dean)

Gloucestershire has also been shortlisted as one of five remaining sites within the 
STEP Fusion project at Berkeley and Oldbury. If successful, this would deliver 
significant investment while addressing global sustainability ambitions. 

Page 50



Page 1 of 10

GLOUCESTERSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL 

GLOUCESTERSHIRE ECONOMIC GROWTH JOINT COMMITTEE

Title: Decarbonising Transport

Reporting to: Gloucestershire Economic Growth Joint Committee

Date: 19th May 2022

Chairman: Cllr Tony Dale

Presenting 
Officer: Luisa Senft-Hayward, Transport Planning Manager 

Purpose of 
report: 

To brief this Committee on the challenge for decarbonising 
transport for the county and GCC’s proposed steps to reach net 
zero transport emissions by 2045 in line with our target.

Background 
documents:

Adopted Gloucestershire Local Transport Plan (LTP) (2020-
2041) 
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/transport/gloucestershires-
local-transport-plan-2020-2041/gloucestershire-ltp-2020-2041/ 

Gloucestershire’s Climate Change Strategy
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/planning-and-
environment/climate-change/greener-gloucestershire-climate-
action/our-vision/gloucestershires-climate-change-strategy/ 

Summary:
In Gloucestershire, there will need to be a rapid reduction in 
transport emissions in the next 5, 10 and 20 years to reduce in 
line with the county’s and district authorities’ decarbonisation 
commitments.  Action will be required at national, regional, and 
local levels to meet these strategic objectives. To achieve the 
targets that have been set for climate change and transport 
decarbonisation, significant change will be necessary. Whilst 
this will need to be led and driven by all public sector partners 
through Climate Leadership Gloucestershire, it will also require 
ownership by the private sector and by all the citizens of 
Gloucestershire through their own, personal behaviour.   A wide 
variety of interventions will need to be pursued at the same 
time, to achieve the reductions required. 

Anticipated 
Outcomes:  

To progress this work, GCC will undertake further data analysis 
of the source of transport emissions in Gloucestershire.  GCC 
has been selected by UK 100 as a partner in their Local Power 
in Action project which will provide advice on how to gain 
support from the entire Gloucestershire community for the 
ambitions outlined in this report. A Decarbonising Transport 

Page 51

Agenda Item 12

https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/transport/gloucestershires-local-transport-plan-2020-2041/gloucestershire-ltp-2020-2041/
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/transport/gloucestershires-local-transport-plan-2020-2041/gloucestershire-ltp-2020-2041/
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/planning-and-environment/climate-change/greener-gloucestershire-climate-action/our-vision/gloucestershires-climate-change-strategy/
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/planning-and-environment/climate-change/greener-gloucestershire-climate-action/our-vision/gloucestershires-climate-change-strategy/
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/planning-and-environment/climate-change/greener-gloucestershire-climate-action/our-vision/gloucestershires-climate-change-strategy/


Page 2 of 10

Forum will be held in Summer 2022 to gain stakeholder 
feedback on our emerging findings.

Further carbon reduction pathway phased work to provide better 
understanding of the implications of traffic growth and 
development growth.

GCC’s ambition is to have a clearly defined Transport 
Decarbonisation Plan, identifying proposed schemes and 
interventions in line with the LTP, that has the support from our 
key stakeholders, by December 2022. This will take account of 
any future government guidance on transport decarbonisation 
and scheme development.

         

Page 52



Page 3 of 10

                                                                                                                                                  
1. Background

1.1 In 2018, transport accounted for 32% of all CO2 emissions per capita in 
Gloucestershire. This proportion rises to 44% if emissions associated with 
motorways and railways are included. While other sectors, such as ‘energy’ 
have been able to achieve significant reductions in their CO2 emissions, 
transport carbon emissions have remained basically unchanged. 

1.2 In June 2019, the UK Government passed legislation committing to achieving 
net zero greenhouse gas emission by 2050. In the same year, GCC and all 
other Gloucestershire authorities each declared a climate emergency and 
GCC adopted a Climate Change Strategy setting out the following carbon 
reduction targets:

 The County Council’s own operational emissions to be net zero by 2030; 
 Emissions from all sources across the county to be net zero by 2050; and 
 The county to work with partners to deliver an 80% reduction in emissions 

by 2030, relative to 2005. 

1.2 In 2020, GCC strengthened its targets, committing to reaching net zero 
emissions from all sources across the county by 2045. This target is reflected 
in Gloucestershire’s fourth LTP, adopted in March 2021. The LTP also states 
that a Transport Carbon Reduction Pathway will be developed, setting out the 
interventions necessary to achieve this target.

1.4 Work on this transport carbon reduction pathway has started and initial 
findings from data analysis, potential interventions and emerging ambitions 
are summarised in this report. They clearly show that our joint climate change 
targets will only be achieved if the entire Gloucestershire community fully 
commit and adapt to the behavioural changes needed. 

1.5 As the Local Transport Authority, GCC is providing the leadership in respect 
to decarbonising transport, starting with this report. However, the success of 
Gloucestershire’s pathway to carbon zero will depend on all parties involved 
playing their part and on our joint ability to convince the public of the need for, 
and opportunities associated with, a decarbonised transport system. GCC has 
been selected by UK 100 as a partner in their Local Power in Action project 
which will provide advice on how to gain support from the entire 
Gloucestershire community for the ambitions outlined in this report.

Page 53



Page 4 of 10

2. Data analysis

2.1 The carbon reduction pathway (phase 1) study applies a ‘top down’ approach to 
identifying the scale of intervention needed for Gloucestershire to meet its 
transport carbon reduction targets. In the graph below, the blue dotted line 
shows carbon emissions if current traffic trends continue. This line is brought 
down by taking into consideration the impacts of the Government sales ban for 
petrol and diesel cars, as indicated by the blue solid line. This solid blue line 
can be compared to the solid green line, which represents GCC’s carbon 
reduction targets. The red arrow between these two solid lines identifies 
Gloucestershire’s ‘emission gap’ in 2030. For information and context, the 
dotted green line shows a view of academic experts at the Tyndall Centre for 
Climate Change Research on the rate of decarbonisation required to stay within 
Gloucestershire’s remaining CO2 budget which would leave an even bigger 
emissions gap.

Gloucestershire’s transport carbon emissions gap 

2.2 The report then goes on to provide further information on the breakdown of 
transport emissions in Gloucestershire by vehicle type, road type, through trip, 
distance band and purpose (for car emissions). Key findings from this analysis 
are:

Page 54



Page 5 of 10

2.2.1 Trip purpose
Pre-COVID19, commuting was the trip purpose that accounted for the highest 
single proportion of emissions (25%), with other social and personal trips 
accounting for most of the rest. 

% Car km/CO2 emissions by trip purpose

However, business trips have an average trip length nearly double all other 
purposes and therefore contribute 10% to emissions despite relatively few trips 
being made.

Average trip length (km) by trip purpose

Page 55



Page 6 of 10

2.2.2 Trip length
Although trips under 5 kilometres account for over 40% of trips, due to their 
short length they account for less than 10% of total distance and emissions. 
The most significant distance bands are 20 kilometres and above, accounting 
for over 60% of emissions (and just over 15% of trips).

% Of car trips by distance band

Car CO2 emissions by distance band

Page 56



Page 7 of 10

2.2.3 Trip length by mode 
Analysis of average trip length by mode indicate that bus and rail have the most 
potential to serve trips of the length that contribute most to carbon emissions. 
Cycling has the potential to provide an alternative up to 10km and beyond, 
particularly if trip lengths can be extended by improved facilities and the use of 
e-bikes.

Average trip length (km) by mode

2.2.4  Transport carbon emissions by district
Significant differences are evident between Gloucestershire’s districts. For 
instance, the residents of Cotswold generate on average 50% more emissions 
through car travel per year than the residents of Cheltenham and Gloucester, 
reflecting the nationwide difference between transport patterns in urban and 
rural communities.

Kg CO2 from car travel per person, p.a., by Gloucestershire district

0

200

400

600

800

1000

1200

1400

1600

Cheltenham Cotswold Forest of Dean Gloucester Stroud Tewkesbury

kg
 C

O
2 

fr
om

 c
ar

 tr
av

el
 p

er
 p

er
so

n 
p.

a.

District average Gloucestershire average

Page 57



Page 8 of 10

3. Potential measures to reduce emissions

3.1 Research was undertaken to identify measures generally applied to reduce 
carbon emissions. These were compared to interventions proposed in 
Gloucestershire’s LTP. 

In line with the Local Government Association and several other bodies, 
measures were categorised in terms of the route through which they reduce 
carbon, grouping them in terms of the Avoid, Shift, Improve.

Levers for change

3.2 Applying these three levers, potential measures to reduce carbon can be 
summarised as follows:
o Smarter access:

 Land use planning
 Digital connectivity

o Shift mode of travel:
 Active travel/personal mobility
 Public/shared transport
 Demand management
 Behaviour change

o Improve vehicle emissions:
 Efficient network management
 Ultra-low emission vehicles

3.3 All of these levers for change need to be pursued at the same time, for 
Gloucestershire to reduce its transport carbon emission gap. They also make 
clear that change can only be achieved if all of GCC’s partners work together to 
reduce transport carbon emissions.

Page 58



Page 9 of 10

4. Emerging indicative ambitions

4.1.To illustrate the scale of change needed to meet the GCC target to reduce CO2 
emissions by 80% by 2030, and assuming that we use all possible areas of 
change (rather than focusing on just one), closing the Gloucestershire transport 
carbon emissions gap would require changes that would in total lead to 
reductions similar to those that may be achieved with the below sketched 
scenario. Please note that this is an illustrative scenario only. 

o A reduction in average trip length by 7.5% (0.6 miles);
o A reduction of 7.5% of car trips (3 trips/month each);
o Ride sharing for an extra 2.5% of car travel;
o An increase in active travel by 300%;
o An increase in public transport use by 100%;
o Eco-driving with a smoothed speed on 75% of car km; and 
o A 100% increase in car km by EV. 

4.2 It should be noted that these are not set targets, but figures that are meant to 
illustrate and provide a feel for the scale of change needed by 2030. Higher 
achievement in one area would offset lower achievement in another area. 
Further phases of the carbon reduction pathway work will identify potential 
interventions and how much they would be able to contribute towards 
Gloucestershire’s carbon reduction ambitions.

5. Joint responsibilities

5.1 GCC is the Local Transport Authority and is therefore leading on the transport 
portfolio for Climate Leadership Gloucestershire. However, the change needed 
is too comprehensive, affecting all aspects of everyday life as well as planning 
and investment decisions, for one organisation alone to be able to deliver the 
change needed. Decarbonising Gloucestershire’s transport system requires a 
united, comprehensive and positive response from all Gloucestershire partners.  

Page 59



Page 10 of 10

6. Conclusion and next steps

6.1 In Gloucestershire, there will need to be a rapid reduction in transport 
emissions in the next 5, 10 and 20 years  to reduce in line with the county’s and 
district authorities’ decarbonisation commitments.  Action will be required at 
national, regional and local levels to meet these strategic objectives. To 
achieve the targets that have been set for climate change and transport 
decarbonisation, significant change will be necessary. Whilst this will need to 
be led and driven by all public sector partners through Climate Leadership 
Gloucestershire, it will also require ownership by the private sector and by all of 
the citizens of Gloucestershire through their own, personal choices and 
behaviour.   

6.2 A wide variety of interventions will need to be pursued, at the same time, to 
achieve the reductions required. To progress this work, GCC will undertake the 
following next steps:

o Further data analysis of the source of transport emissions in 
Gloucestershire.

o Engage in the UK 100 as a partner in their Local Power in Action project, 
which will provide advice on how to gain support from the entire 
Gloucestershire community for the ambitions outlined in this report.

o Arrange a Summer 2022 Climate Change Transport Forum to gain 
stakeholder feedback on our emerging findings.

o Further carbon reduction pathway phased work to provide better 
understanding of the implications of traffic growth and development 
growth.

6.3 GCC’s ambition is to have a clearly defined Transport Decarbonisation Plan 
that has the support from our key stakeholders, by December 2022. This will 
take account of any future government guidance on transport decarbonisation 
and scheme development.

Page 60



P
age 61



P
age 62



P
age 63



P
age 64



P
age 65



P
age 66



P
age 67



P
age 68



P
age 69



P
age 70



P
age 71



P
age 72



P
age 73



P
age 74



COVID19 and Economic Intelligence

May 2022

Data and Analysis Team

P
age 75

A
genda Item

 13



The Economy – impact of COVID-19
Claimant Count Job postings

19,241
Job postings 
in Apr 2022

61.4% 
up on Feb 

2020*

10,350
People claiming 
unemployment 

related benefits, 
Mar 22

2.7% 
of  16-64 
year olds,

Mar 22

Mobility

Visits to retail 
and recreation 
locations down 

7%
on baseline as at 

29/04/2022

* Please see slide 9 for details on changes to this measure

283,893
Payrolled employees, 

Mar 22

Payrolled employees

1.0%
Up on Feb 2020

£2,020 
Median pay per month, 

Mar 22

11.6%
Up on Feb 2020

Median pay

P
age 76



The Economy – impact of COVID-19

NEET’S

369
16-18 year 
olds Mar 22

Universal Credit

41,239
People claiming 
Universal Credit, 

Mar 22

10.7% 
of 16-64 year 

olds

Apprenticeships

2,480
Apprenticeship 

starts 
Q2 2021/22

Kickstart Gateway, 30th Apr 22

193
Starts

505
Businesses 
incorporated 

Mar 2022

491
Businesses 

dissolved Mar 
2022

Business Incorporations and Dissolutions

P
age 77



Universal Credit
41,239

People claiming 
Universal Credit, Mar 22

10.7% of 16-64 year 
olds, Mar 22

Mar-20 Mar-21 Mar-22 Trend January 2019-March 2022

Searching for work 7,150     15,989   9,862     

Working – with requirements 3,448     7,679     6,630     

No work requirements 6,038     8,835     11,759   

Working – no requirements 4,467     10,387   9,995     

Planning for work 753        971        847        

Preparing for work 1,344     1,748     2,130     

Number of claimants by conditionality

Notes: 
Includes those who are searching for work & aren’t. 

• Searching for work = not working/ low earnings
• Working with requirements = could earn more
• No work requirements = Not expected to work due 

to health or caring responsibility
• Planning for work = Expected to work in the future. 

Lone parent / carer of child aged 1
• Preparing for work = Expected to  prepare for  

work even with limited capability at present 

P
age 78



Universal Credit

Notes: 

Includes those who are 
searching for work and those 
who aren’t. 

Universal Credit statistics 
measure employment as 
receiving earnings during the 
assessment period which is 
active on the count date.

Data is one month below 
total figures

Mar-20 Feb-22 Trend January 2019 - March 2022

Not in employment 13,983          22,958          
..

In employment 9,224            17,965          
..

Number of claimants by employment status

P
age 79



Claimant Count - Unemployment
10,350

People claiming 
unemployment 

related benefits, 
Mar 22

2.7% 
of  16-64 year olds,

Mar 22

Notes: 
Includes people claiming Jobseeker's Allowance 
plus those who claim Universal Credit and are 
searching for work.

The government's response to COVID-19 meant 
that an increasing number of people became 
eligible for unemployment-related benefit support, 
although still employed. 

P
age 80



Claimant Count - Unemployment

Notes: 
Includes people claiming Jobseeker's Allowance 
plus those who claim Universal Credit and are 
searching for work.

The response to COVID-19 meant that people 
became eligible for unemployment-related benefit 
support, although still employed. 

Mar-20 Mar-22 Trend January 2020-
March 2022

Aged 16-24 3.2% 3.6%

Aged 25-29 3.1% 3.8%

Aged 30-34 2.8% 4.0%

Aged 35-39 2.2% 3.4%

Aged 40-44 1.9% 3.0%

Aged 45-49 1.6% 2.1%

Aged 50-54 1.5% 1.8%

Aged 55-59 1.4% 1.7%

Aged 60-64 1.4% 1.7%

P
age 81



Payrolled Employees

283,893
Payrolled employees, 

Mar 22

1.0%
Up on Feb 2020

Notes: 
The number of payrolled employees  is defined as the 
number of people receiving paid renumeration included in 
PAYE RTI , including people who have not done work but 
are an employee - such as those on paid leave or furlough.

It only includes individuals paid through PAYE and does not 
cover other sources of income such as from  self-
employment or investments

P
age 82



Payrolled Employees

£2,020 
Median pay per month, 

Mar 22

Notes: 
The number of payrolled employees  is defined as the 
number of people receiving paid renumeration included in 
PAYE RTI , including people who have not done work but 
are an employee - such as those on paid leave or furlough.

It only includes individuals paid through PAYE and does not 
cover other sources of income such as from  self-
employment or investments

11.6%
Up on Feb 2020

P
age 83



Unique Active Job Postings

19,241
Unique active job 
postings, Apr 22

Notes: 
Job postings are collected from online 
sources , it doesn’t capture postings that 
are not advertised online, this might result 
in undercounting for some  occupations. 

This data shows any active posting rather 
than newly listed postings. A posting is 
removed from the count after it has been 
online for 61 days

A job postings does not necessarily result in 
a job and some jobs will be created without 
a job postings

Data is subject to change. 

P
age 84



Feb 2020 
Unique 

Postings

Mar 2021 
Unique 

Postings

Apr 2022 
Unique 

Postings

% change Feb 
2020- Apr 

2022

Trend January 2020 - April 
2022

Managers, Directors and Senior Officials 890 996 1,436 61%
Professional Occupations 3,357 4,053 4,936 47%
Associate Professional and Technical Occupations 2,063 2,331 3,278 59%
Administrative and Secretarial Occupations 1,117 1,246 1,942 74%
Skilled Trades Occupations 1,027 956 1,424 39%
Caring, Leisure and Other Service Occupations 994 1,093 1,977 99%
Sales and Customer Service Occupations 1,116 918 1,604 44%
Process, Plant and Machine Operatives 576 610 931 62%
Elementary Occupations 718 750 1,650 130%
Total Across All Occupations 11,924 13,070 19,241 61%

Vacancies by occupation

Unique Active Job Postings
Notes: 
Job postings are collected from online sources , it 
doesn’t capture postings that are not advertised 
online, this might result in undercounting for some  
occupations. 

This data shows any active posting rather than newly 
listed postings. A posting is removed from the count 
after it has been online for 61 days

A job postings does not necessarily result in a job and 
some jobs will be created without a job postings

Data is subject to change. 

P
age 85



Kickstart
Notes: 

Employers of all 
sizes can apply for  
kickstart funding 
which covers  100% 
of the  wage of the 
participant) for 25 
hours per week for 
a total of 6 months

A Kickstart gateway 
helps an employer 
get a Kickstart 
Scheme grant. 
They may also offer 
employability 
support to the 
young person on 
the scheme. 
Gloucestershire 
County Council is a 
kickstart gateway

The Kickstart Scheme provides funding to create new jobs for 16 
to 24 year olds on Universal Credit who are at risk of long term 
unemployment.

193
Through 

GCC 
gateway 

28
Employed

by GCC

Starts 
30th April 22

P
age 86



Wider context

P
age 87



Economic Activity & Inactivity (Jan 21 – Dec 21)

78.4% aged16-64 are 
employed

12.6% aged16-64 are 
self-employed

18.6% aged16-64 are 
economically inactive

Notes: 

This information comes from a  
survey. In principle, many random 
samples could be drawn and each 
would give different results,. The 
error bars indicate the level of 
confidence for each value. 

The data covers a 12 month 
period rather than a snapshot.

Employment captures those 
employed and those self 
employed

Economically inactive refers to 
those  who aren’t working or 
actively seeking a job, this could 
be because they are retired, 
looking after a home, unable to 
work for ill health etc. 

P
age 88



P
age 89



T
his page is intentionally left blank



GFirst LEP Update for GEGJC meeting 19th May, 2022
Prepared by Dev Chakraborty (Deputy Chief Executive GFirst LEP)

1) Local Authority one to ones

Over the past few weeks the senior team from the LEP have been having our regular, six 
monthly one to ones with each of the six district authorities.

These meetings are always welcomed by all parties and provide an opportunity to discuss 
relevant and topical items as well as priorities/issues for both organisations.

This current round of meetings has also been an excellent opportunity for the LEP’s new 
Chair, Ruth Dooley, Partner at Hazlewoods Accountants, to meet the senior teams within 
the local authorities across the county.

At the time of writing this report, five out of the six meetings have taken place with just the 
meeting with Tewkesbury Borough Council to take place on May 25th.

Key items on the agenda;

i) LEP Review/Levelling up white paper – future role of LEPs.

ii) Levelling up fund – understanding current status of successful bids, bids in progress and 
bids at an early concept stage.  The offer of help has been made to all local authorities to 
assist with bid reviewing, helping to evaluate both scoring matrixes and ‘value for money’ 
on any proposed new bids.

iii) UK Shared Prosperity Fund – understanding the current thinking of each Local Authority 
as they work their way to producing ‘Local Investment Plans’ in the coming months, 
discussing which other organisations we think will be submitting bids and outlining the key 
priority projects from the LEP’s point of view. This will be picked up in more detail in item 2 
in my report.

iv) Net Zero/Climate change – how all parties can take forward this important priority for 
the county. 

v) Skills agenda – the importance of developing and offering new training skills in the county 
to increase low carbon, renewable energy and retrofit training courses.

vi) STEP Fusion project – updating on current status of the bid, next steps, seeking letters of 
support etc

vii) Western Gateway – how changes of personnel might affect the direction of travel.

Page 91

Agenda Item 14



2) UK Shared Prosperity Fund (UKSPF)

This is a new fund from central Government totalling £2.6 billion for local investment by 
March 2025, as part of a suite of complementary Levelling Up funding. 

It will:
• Provide all areas of the UK with an allocation of revenue and capital funding - via a 
funding formula, not a competition.
• Empower each place to identify and build on their own strengths and needs at a local 
level, focused on pride in place and increasing life chances.
• Delegate delivery of the fund to local authorities, supported by local partners.
• Enable local places to build a package of funding, drawing on other programmes such as 
the Levelling Up Fund or employment and skills support to maximise impact and simplify 
delivery.

Three key priority areas;

i) Community and Place - strengthening our social fabric and fostering a sense of local 
pride and belonging. To build resilient and safe neighbourhoods.

ii) Supporting local business - creating jobs and boosting community cohesion by 
supporting local businesses. Promoting networking and collaboration and stimulating 
innovation and growth. Targeted support to help businesses grow e.g. innovation, 
productivity, energy efficiency, low carbon and exporting.

iii) People and Skills - boosting core skills and support adults to progress in work.
Supporting disadvantaged people to access the skills they need. Funding local skills needs 
and supplementing local adult skills provision. Reducing levels of economic inactivity and 
supporting those furthest from the labour market.

From GFirst LEP’s point of view, there are three distinct services that have demonstrated 
significant value across Gloucestershire, two of which are currently funded through 
European Funding.                

To continue to offer these important services they will require funding support from a 
combination of UKSPF and/or SEDF: The Growth Hub; Inward Investment; and the 
Employment Charter.

Attached is a paper from GFirst LEP CEO, David Owen, initially sent to all Local Authority 
Chief Executives and designed to prompt discussion about the allocation of UKSPF across 
Gloucestershire and to act as an aide memoire for initial discussion with District Councils.

Page 92



3) GFirst LEP Capital Projects update – to April 30th, 2022

Getting Building Fund

GFirst LEP successfully bid for £11.3 million from the Government’s ‘Getting Building Fund’. 
This is funding five ‘shovel ready’ projects outlined below creating 818 new jobs and 
safeguarding a further 43. 
The projects will assist 960 businesses and a further £4.875million will be leveraged from 
both the public and private sector.

i) The Minster Exchange with Cheltenham Borough Council – construction is now 
progressing well, albeit behind the original schedule. The delays have created some 
substantial budget pressure due primarily to extended engagement of professional 
services required to manage the build and continual upward cost pressure on 
materials. On a positive note the costs for the new sub-station came in under 
expectations. Full planning approval has now been secured and a contract has been 
let for the public realm/gardens works, which will start in May 2022.  The full 
opening will be in Sept/Oct with the first major event on site, the SoGlos Business 
Awards planned for October 2022. 

Page 93



ii) AccXel Construction Skills Accelerator Centre with KW Bell in Cinderford – the 
centre is now fully open and delivering training and skills outputs. 

iii) The Applied Digital Skills Centre with Cirencester College – the new building has now 
been handed over to the college and final snagging is in progress.
Official opening event planned for 27th May. 

iv) 
‘Th
e 
Digi
tal 
Inn
ova
tio
n 
Far
m’ 
wit
h 
Har
tpu
ry 
Uni
ver
sity 

Page 94



– all modular units have now been installed and are in final stages of commissioning. First 
residents will be on site in May 2022.

v) Cyber Incubator Units at Gloucestershire College, Cheltenham – the centre has now 
been open for several months and has quickly become a vibrant and popular workplace. 
Feedback from residents is that they really enjoy the ‘energy’ that comes from being based 
at the college. Currently there are 10 companies in residence, with a total of 227 passes 
issued.

Page 95



Local Growth Fund

A summary of the Local Growth Fund outputs reported to date;
 

 2,433 direct jobs created
 £79 million of additional public sector and £64 million of private sector leverage to 

date with a further £190 million forecasted
 386 new homes completed to date, a further 1,050 forecasted out to March 2025 

and a final forecasted total of 3,115
 23,418m2 of new learning space created
 18,126m2 of new commercial space created

Project updates;

 Gloucester Railway Station - good progress has been made in recent weeks. 
Following the opening of the new Metz Way junction, work started on May 9th for 
approx 12 weeks at the Bruton Way junction to improve the front vehicle access and 
pedestrian access. A preferred contractor has also now been down-selected for the 
underpass and forecourt construction work and contract award (subject to DfT sign-
off) is anticipated late June/July). GWR have now confirmed that we have a 
“deliverable project” which is a very positive step forward. It is still anticipated that 
construction will complete late 2022/early 2023.

 Gloucestershire Airport Anson Park – the project has now completed to required 
stage, pending engagement with developers over detail design for buildings and 
access. Media launch was held on April 26th – details here :- https://www.punchline-
gloucester.com/articles/aanews/gloucestershire-airport-development-takes-
important-step-forward

Page 96

https://www.punchline-gloucester.com/articles/aanews/gloucestershire-airport-development-takes-important-step-forward
https://www.punchline-gloucester.com/articles/aanews/gloucestershire-airport-development-takes-important-step-forward
https://www.punchline-gloucester.com/articles/aanews/gloucestershire-airport-development-takes-important-step-forward


 Gloucester SW Bypass – demolition work is now well advanced and expected to 
complete at the end of May. Highways contract expected to be awarded in June 22 
with work starting in July 22. Work expected to take approx 12 months. 

 A40 Innsworth Gateway – construction now fully complete and roundabout fully 
open. Full scheme cost now c£13.5 million representing a developer contribution of 
c£9 million.

 West Cheltenham Transport Improvement Scheme (WCTIS) – all phases now 
complete with “opening” event now scheduled for Monday 6th June. 

Full details of the scheme are available here; 
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/highways/major-projects-list/b4063-gloucester-
to-cheltenham-cycle-improvements-scheme/

For further information on any of these projects please go to GFirst LEP’s website; 
http://www.gfirstlep.com/projects/

Page 97

https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/highways/major-projects-list/b4063-gloucester-to-cheltenham-cycle-improvements-scheme/
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/highways/major-projects-list/b4063-gloucester-to-cheltenham-cycle-improvements-scheme/
http://www.gfirstlep.com/projects/


4) Inward Investment project

Delighted to share our new ‘Invest in Gloucestershire’ promotional film. Aimed at the 
business community, especially those decision-makers in companies elsewhere in the UK 
and overseas, the video highlights Gloucestershire’s strengths across its key sectors of cyber 
and digital technology, agri-tech, advanced engineering and manufacturing, as well as 
renewable energy. 

The video will be utilised by the commercial teams across the global British Embassy 
network as well as the Inward Investment Team at GFirst LEP to showcase the benefits of 
locating new and expanding businesses in Gloucestershire. 

Local businesses are also invited to utilise this as a recruitment tool for attracting new talent 
to the county. 

Here is the link to the video: https://youtu.be/Af1PuYBkOiM 

Page 98

https://youtu.be/Af1PuYBkOiM


5) The Growth Hub network – another video to share;

The Growth Hub’s doors are open to help local business owners and their employees 

combat loneliness, manage their mental health, and get their fix of office life. A series of 

new videos have been produced to offer a look inside the Hubs around the county.

“Whether you need distraction-free time away from home, a proper desk that’s not your 
kitchen table, or just to work amongst like-minded people again – The Growth Hub’s doors 
are open to you. See the workspaces for yourself and meet the team in the new video series 
featuring the Gloucester, Cirencester, Tewkesbury, Stroud, Forest of Dean, and Cheltenham 
Growth Hubs.”

https://www.youtube.com/c/ThegrowthhubBiz 

6) GFirst LEP Annual Review event – Wednesday 15th June at Cotswold 
Airport, Kemble.

The event will take place within the British Airways Boeing 747 ‘Negus’.

GFirst LEP Chair, Ruth Dooley and CEO, David Owen will be taking passengers on a journey 
looking at the changes in Gloucestershire’s economy since our last in-person Annual Review 
event in September 2019.

Our in-flight entertainment will include the following;

• An update on our projects

Page 99

https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=gOrXwlNpDAA&list=PLIzK9x36oH_lnk6tUF0xuiHc3ykoIlMkk&index=2
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=VU7mPPZUM_A&list=PLIzK9x36oH_lr4XE16BFPNKdCyYPjY155
https://www.youtube.com/c/ThegrowthhubBiz


• Our Growth Hub network

• Covid-19 and Business Recovery

• Education & Skills agenda

• Inward Investment

• The Levelling up agenda

• What the future has in store for Gloucestershire and GFirst LEP

                                                        ---------------------------------

Due to restricted numbers this will be an invite only event.

All Local Authority leaders, chief executives and economic development leads have been 
invited.

Page 100



Page 1 of 3 
david.owen@gfirstlep.com

UK Shared Prosperity Fund
Gap Analysis for District Chief Executives

Introduction
This paper is designed to prompt discussion about the allocation of UKSPF across 
Gloucestershire and to act as an aide memoire for initial discussion with District Councils.

There are three distinct services that have demonstrated significant value across 
Gloucestershire, two of which are currently funded through European Funding.                To 
continue to offer these important services they will require funding support from a 
combination of UKSPF and/or SEDF: The Growth Hub; Inward Investment; and the 
Employment Charter.

The GFirst LEP team have carried out analysis to cost each of these activities at a lowest 
possible cost basis for the purposes of this paper.  

The cost of delivering each service over the lifetime of the initial phase of UKSPF funding is 
as follows:

The Growth Hub £1,608,062
Inward Investment £500,000
The Employment Charter £483,300

Total £2,591,262

The Growth Hub
What is the Growth Hub?

Gloucestershire’s Growth Hub network is one of the very best in the country and a vital part 
of the eco-system for business support, innovation, and growth.  To date the Growth Hub has 
supported over 4,000 local businesses and more than 1,800 high growth firms.

In order to maintain a county-wide Growth Hub service for Gloucestershire gap funding is 
required to commence on completion of European funded elements in April 2023. 

Over the two-year period of funding (2023-2025) the Growth Hub service would deliver 
2,940 business engagements and support 100 start-up businesses.

In addition, free of existing constraints, district councils would be given access to the Growth 
Hub CRM system for related uses.

Page 101



Page 2 of 3 
david.owen@gfirstlep.com

 The Ask

The overall ask is for £1,608,062 over two years.  This represents a reduction in funding of 
around 50% on existing funding levels.  The breakdown of costs is as follows:

 Overhead costs including CRM, marketing, software licenses, web support - £233,112 
 Core delivery including Manager, Marketing Manager, Project Administrator and 3 x 

FTE advisors - £637,450 
 Network costs including Manager and Navigator staffing at Hubs where agreements 

are ending - £737,500 
  

Inward Investment
What is Inward Investment?

Inward Investment Gloucestershire is currently a £1million project, 50% funded by ERDF 
with match-funding in the form of officer’s time from GCC, Glos CC, TBC and CBC.  The 
focus of the activity is on attracting Foreign Direct Investment to Gloucestershire and the 
project ensures a joined-up approach working with DiT and all seven local authorities.

Inward investment activity for Gloucestershire is steered towards four key sectors; cyber, 
agri-tech, advanced manufacturing and renewables; that align with the Local Industrial 
Strategy.  It ensures that Gloucestershire has a presence at high profile international events 
such as the Farnborough Air Show, Agritechnica, and UKREEIF.

The project team also co-ordinate the collaboration between partners such as Hartpury 
University, RAU, Campden BRI and CCRI and support existing foreign owned businesses 
with their expansion plans/business support needs (eg Suntory Ribena, MOOG, GE 
Aviation).

The output of inward investment is measured in job creation and will achieve XXXX jobs 
over the funding period.

 Provides bespoke ‘landing packages’ for businesses new to the county
 Key output will be job creation (outputs to be confirmed)
 Funding request for January 2023 to March 2025

 
 
The Ask

The overall ask is for £500,000 over the period January 2023 to March 2025. 

This will cover staff salaries and on costs; marketing campaigns; events and stakeholder 
engagement; website development; CRM system contribution.

Page 102



Page 3 of 3 
david.owen@gfirstlep.com

The Employment Charter
What is the Employment Charter?

A support and brokerage service for young people in education to engage with local 
employers and for employers to develop recruitment pipelines. This increases the capacity of 
the Careers Hub and the support involves: 

 researching what education & skills providers and their learners need from industry, 
when this is needed and who will be involved

 Sharing this information with local employers and establishing what capacity they 
have to support this 

 Brokering sustainable engagement with providers to strengthen and retain talent
 Quality assurance and monitoring for continual improvement
 Delivering employer engagement activities including: Q&A sessions with employers, 

workplace visits and practice job interviews

The Employment Charter activity would work with fifty-nine schools/academies, four colleges, three 
universities and deliver support to 29,500 young people across Gloucestershire as well as helping 
local employers to build stronger relationships with education providers in order to attract employees 
at a time when many are finding it difficult to recruit.

The Ask

The overall ask is for £483,300 over 3 years from 2022-2025.

This would cover staff salaries and on costs; marketing campaigns; events and stakeholder 
engagement; website development; CRM system contribution.

Page 103



This page is intentionally left blank



GLOUCESTERSHIRE ECONOMIC GROWTH JOINT COMMITTEE WORK PLAN 2022

Meeting Date Subject Purpose Key Notes/Actions 

16 March 2022 GFirst LEP Update Standing item

Business Rates Pool including 
updates on the performance of 
SEDF/bid proposals from the 
SOG

Standing item/information report plus 
possible requests (key decisions) for SEDF 
funding bids (proposed/assessed by the 
SOG)

Possible key 
decisions

Forward Plan including 
emerging SEDF proposals?

Standing item

GCC Economic Dashboard Standing item

Statement of Common Ground 
Update 

Information item

Cyber Project Update Information item
Broadband in the County Information item 

19 May 2022 Gloucestershire Economic 
Growth Joint Scrutiny 
Committee Update

Standing item

GFirst LEP Update - including 
feedback on district visits by 
David Owen and Ruth Dooley

Standing item

Business Rates Pool including 
updates on the performance of 
SEDF/bid proposals from the 
SOG

Standing item Possible key 
decisions

Forward Plan including 
emerging SEDF proposals?

Standing item

GCC Economic Dashboard Standing item
UK Shared Prosperity Fund, Discussion item

P
age 105

A
genda Item

 15



GLOUCESTERSHIRE ECONOMIC GROWTH JOINT COMMITTEE WORK PLAN 2022

including opportunities for 
Gloucestershire

7 September 2022 Gloucestershire Economic 
Growth Joint Scrutiny 
Committee Update

Standing item

GFirst LEP Update Standing item

Business Rates Pool including 
updates on the performance of 
SEDF/bid proposals from the 
SOG

Standing item Possible key 
decisions

Forward Plan including 
emerging SEDF proposals?

Standing item

GCC Economic Dashboard Standing item
Sector Profile: Freight and 
Logistics (tbc)

Discussion item

Gloucestershire’s role in 
Western Gateway’s growth 
agenda (representative from 
Western Gateway to be invited) 
(tbc)

Discussion item

16 November 2022 Gloucestershire Economic 
Growth Joint Scrutiny 
Committee Update

Standing item

GFirst LEP Update Standing item
Business Rates Pool including 
updates on the performance of 
SEDF/bid proposals from the 
SOG

Standing item Possible key 
decisions

Forward Plan including 
emerging SEDF proposals?

Standing item

GCC Economic Dashboard Standing item
Review of Skills, including the Information item

P
age 106



GLOUCESTERSHIRE ECONOMIC GROWTH JOINT COMMITTEE WORK PLAN 2022

first year of the Skills Hub
Health inequality within 
Gloucestershire and its impact 
on economic growth (Jen 
Taylor/ Cirencester College)

Discussion item

Sector Profile: Advanced 
Engineering (representative 
from Renishaw to be invited)

Discussion item 

Unscheduled Items
Sector Profile: Agritech and 
Farming (representatives from 
RAU/ Hartpury/ Farm 491 to be 
invited)

Discussion item 

Presentation on the work and 
opportunities of the FOD Excel 
Centre (representative to be 
invited)

Information item

The decline in apprenticeship 
starts amongst under 19s

Information item

The provision of sustainable 
transport, particularly in rural 
areas.

Information item

Addressing economic inactivity 
in Gloucestershire, how to 
encourage young people to stay 
and work in the County, and 
helping vulnerable communities 
to become more resilient.

Discussion item

The impact of the shortage of 
bus drivers on the local 
economy (to be considered later 
on in the year)

Information item

Gloucestershire Growth Hub 
Network

Information item/Activity report

Business Rates Pooling in Information item/ possible decision (Andrew 

P
age 107



GLOUCESTERSHIRE ECONOMIC GROWTH JOINT COMMITTEE WORK PLAN 2022

Gloucestershire for future years Cummings)

P
age 108


	Agenda
	4 Minutes
	Minutes
	GEGJC Actions - 16 March 2022

	7 SEDF Bid - Low Carbon and Skills Training Centre
	SEDF Bid Assessment - SOG Feedback - Berkeley Low Carbon Training Centre May 2022

	8 SEDF Bid - Central Gloucestershire Mass Transit Scheme
	9 SEDF Bid - The Royal Agricultural University's 'Innovation Village' project
	35332B_RAU_3ppA4_InnovationVillage_Flyer_v4
	SEDF Bid Assessment - SOG Feedback - RAU University Gate May 2022

	11 UK Shared Prosperity Fund
	12 Transport Decarbonisation
	Transport decarbonisation presentation

	13 GCC Economic Dashboard
	COVID19 and Economic Intelligence
	Slide Number 2
	Slide Number 3
	Slide Number 4
	Slide Number 5
	Slide Number 6
	Slide Number 7
	Slide Number 8
	Slide Number 9
	Slide Number 10
	Slide Number 11
	Slide Number 12
	Slide Number 13
	Slide Number 14
	Slide Number 15

	14 GFirst LEP Update
	UKSPF GFirst ESIFERDF Gaps

	15 Forward (Work) Plan

